
T/11• 

II \1{1{1-.., 
CF, Tl· H ,,,, 

Mental Health anu IDD 

TrnnsJotm1t1g L1ues 

The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD 
9401 Southwest Freeway Houston, TX 77074 

Board Room #109 

Full Board Meeting 
September 24, 2024 

8:30 am 

I. DECLARATION OF QUORUM

II. PUBLIC COMMENTS

Il l .  APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

A. Approve Minutes of the Board of Trustees Meeting Held on Tuesday,
August 27, 2024
(EXHIBIT F-1)

IV. BOARD CHAIR'S REPORT

V. CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S REPORT

VI. COMMITTEE REPORTS AND ACTIONS

A. Governance Committee Reports and/or Action
( J. Lykes, Chair)

B. Resource Committee Report and/or Action
(G. Womack, Chair)

C. Program Committee Report and/or Action
(M. Miller, Jr., Chair)

D. Quality Committee Report and/or Action
(L. Fernandez-Wische, Chair)

E. Foundation Report and/or Action
( N. Hurtado, Chair)

VI I. CONSENT AGENDA 

A. FY'24 Year-to-Date Budget Report-August
(EXHIBIT F-2)

B. FQHC Co-Application
(EXHIBIT F-3)

C. Harris Center Integrated Care Bylaws
(EXHIBIT F-4)

D. Harris Center Integrated Care Articles of Incorporation
(EXHIBIT F-5)

E. HCIC Annual Operating Budget
(EXHIBIT F-6)

F. September 2024 Contracts Amendments Over 250K
(EXHIBIT F-7)

G. September 2024 lnterlocal Agreement
(EXHIBIT F-8)

























The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD

Results of Financial Operations and Comparison to Original Budget
August 31, 2024

Fiscal Year 2024

Page 11 of 179



The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD

Resource Committee
Board of Trustees
The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD (The Center)

Stanley Adams
Stanley Adams
Chief Financial Officer

We believe the Report, as presented, is materially accurate and is presented in a manner designed to fairly set forth the financial position and results of 
operations of The Center.

The Report submitted herewith was prepared on a budgetary basis which is not in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles nor with financial 
reporting principles set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The Report has not been audited by an independent auditor.

The Center's accounting records for its general fund are maintained on a modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recognized in the 
period when they become both measurable and available, and expenditures are recognized when the related fund liability is incurred, if measurable.

Responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, and fairness of presentation of the presented data rests with The Center, the Chief Financial Officer and the 
Accounting department.

The Report on Results of Financial Operations and Comparison to Original Budget (the Report) submitted herewith was prepared by The Center's Accounting 
Department.

Page 12 of 179



Page 3

Original Budget Actual Variance

Revenues 28,619,834$              31,244,822$              2,624,988$                
Expenditures 28,536,501                31,622,769                (3,086,268)                 

Excess (Deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures 83,333$                     (377,947)$                  (461,280)$                  

Other Sources (Uses)
Debt payment (83,333)$                    -$                            83,333$                     
Capital Outlay -                              (777,224)                    (777,224)                    
Other Sources (Uses) -                              8,688                          8,688                          

Change in Fund Balance/Net Position -$                            (1,146,483)$              (1,146,483)$              

Original Budget Actual Variance

Revenues 343,438,012$           359,364,202$           15,926,190$              
Expenditures 342,438,012              354,290,078              (11,852,066)               

Excess (Deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures 1,000,000$                5,074,124$                4,074,124$                

Other Sources (Uses)
Debt payment (1,000,000)$               -$                            1,000,000$                
Capital Outlay -                              (7,458,089)                 (7,458,089)                 
Other Sources (Uses) -                              172,430                     172,430                     

Change in Fund Balance/Net Position -$                            (2,211,535)$              (2,211,535)$              

For the Month Ended

Fiscal Year to Date

The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Results of Financial Operations and Comparison to Original Budget

August 31, 2024
Non-GAAP / Budgetary-Basis Reporting

Unaudited - Subject to Change

Page 13 of 179



Page 4

 Original Variance  Original Variance
 Budget Actual $ %  Budget Actual $ %

Operating Revenue
State General Revenue 9,638,555$                10,854,906$              1,216,351                  13% 115,662,665$            130,587,229$            14,924,564                13% A
Harris County and Local 4,989,759                  3,980,919                  (1,008,840)                 -20% 59,877,110                56,111,431                (3,765,679)                 -6% B
Federal Contracts and Grants 5,006,186                  5,922,457                  916,271                      18% 60,074,234                59,626,443                (447,791)                    -1%
State Contract and Grants 1,093,588                  1,851,889                  758,301                      69% 13,123,058                13,998,057                874,999                      7% C
Third Party Billing 2,766,501                  3,351,653                  585,152                      21% 33,198,006                38,185,542                4,987,536                  15%
Charity Care Pool 3,340,350                  3,340,348                  (2)                                0% 40,084,203                40,084,203                -                              0%
Directed Payment Programs 726,250                      513,204                      (213,046)                    -29% 8,715,000                  6,335,542                  (2,379,458)                 -27% D
Patient Assistance Program (PAP) 833,578                      1,092,177                  258,599                      31% 10,002,936                10,773,136                770,200                      8%
Interest Income 225,067                      337,269                      112,202                      50% 2,700,800                  3,662,619                  961,819                      36%

Operating Revenue, total 28,619,834$              31,244,822$              2,624,988                  9% 343,438,012$            359,364,202              15,926,190                5%

Operating Expenditures
Salaries and Fringe Benefits 19,926,501$              20,500,067$              (573,566)                    -3% 239,118,011$            241,432,760$            (2,314,749)                 -1%
Contracts and Consultants 1,393,967                  1,598,043                  (204,076)                    -15% 16,727,606                11,902,275                4,825,331                  29%
Contracts and Consultants-HCPC 3,017,779                  4,110,535                  (1,092,756)                 -36% 36,213,353                45,965,859                (9,752,506)                 -27% E
Supplies 277,304                      298,353                      (21,049)                      -8% 3,327,644                  2,220,989                  1,106,655                  33%
Drugs 1,254,451                  2,301,911                  (1,047,460)                 -83% 15,053,414                25,372,650                (10,319,236)               -69% F
Purchases, Repairs and Maintenance of:

Equipment 597,697                      910,697                      (313,000)                    -52% 7,172,366                  6,048,442                  1,123,924                  16% G
Building 538,158                      296,651                      241,507                      45% 6,457,900                  2,922,214                  3,535,686                  55%
Vehicle 86,436                        80,218                        6,218                          7% 1,037,233                  902,431                      134,802                      13%

Telephone and Utilities 317,951                      327,910                      (9,959)                         -3% 3,815,406                  3,362,636                  452,770                      12%
Insurance, Legal and Audit 166,175                      119,005                      47,170                        28% 1,994,105                  2,069,654                  (75,549)                      -4%
Travel 194,299                      243,447                      (49,148)                      -25% 2,331,582                  2,172,535                  159,047                      7%
Dues & Subscriptions 382,047                      296,090                      85,957                        22% 4,584,561                  5,299,718                  (715,157)                    -16% H
Other Expenditures 383,736                      539,842                      (156,106)                    -41% 4,604,831                  4,617,915                  (13,084)                      0%

Operating Expenditures, total 28,536,501$              31,622,769$              (3,086,268)$               -11% 342,438,012$            354,290,078$            (11,852,066)$             -3%

Excess (Deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures 83,333$                      (377,947)$                  (461,280)                    1,000,000$                5,074,124$                4,074,124                  

Other Sources (Uses)
Debt payment (83,333)$                    -$                            83,333$                      (1,000,000)$               -$                            1,000,000$                
Capital outlay -                              (777,224)                    (777,224)                    -                              (7,458,089)                 (7,458,089)                 
Insurance proceeds -                              -                              -                              -                              49,042                        49,042                        
Proceeds from Sale of Assets -                              8,688                          8,688                          -                              123,388                      123,388                      

Change in Fund Balance/Net Position -$                            (1,146,483)$               (1,146,483)$               -$                            (2,211,535)$               (2,211,535)$               

For the Month Ended Fiscal Year to Date

The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Results of Financial Operations and Comparison to Original Budget

August 31, 2024
Non-GAAP / Budgetary-Basis Reporting

Unaudited - Subject to Change

Page 14 of 179



Page 5  

Results of Financial Operations and Comparison to Original Budget
A State General Revenue

B Harris County and Local Revenue

C State Contract and Grants

D Directed Payment Programs

E Contracts and consultants - HCPC

F Drugs

G Equipment (purchase, repair and maintenance)

H Dues & Subscriptions

The primary driver of the net unfavorable variance in Drugs is the increase in retail drug pharmacy purchases, which is offset by revenue 
earned on the billing program.  On a YTD basis the Pharmacy billing program revenue exceeds budget by $8.7M and the billing program 
expense exceeds budget by ($9.1M).

IT related Dues & Subscriptions total $97K for the current month and $4.3M for the current year to date.

DPP revenue shortfall is due to updating our accounting records to match the latest annual estimates provided by Texas Council in mid-
May 2024.  The new annual estimated net revenue is $6.2M, $2.5M less than the $8.7M net revenue estimate published in November 
2023.  The decrease is driven by decrease in FMAP and reduced DPP-related claim throughput.

Unfavorable budget variance primarily driven by additional costs recognized in the current fiscal year at the new rates of the existing 
beds at HCPC effective September 1, 2023.

Unfavorable budget variance primarily driven by additional expenditures during the current month for equipment with value less than 
$5,000, desktops & laptops. During the current month, we incurred $665K in expenditures vs $221K during the prior month, this is a 
standard practice by units as the fiscal/budget year closes.

Positive budget variance primarily driven by additional funding received and recognized  in the current fiscal year at new rates of the 
existing beds at HCPC and West Oaks effective September 1, 2023.

The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Notes to Statements Presented

Non-GAAP / Budgetary-Basis reporting
August 31, 2024

Unfavorable budget variance is attributed to timing differences in revenue budgeted during the fiscal year vs recognized during the 
contract period.

The primary driver of the net favorable variance in monthly State Contract and Grants is related to catch-up of billing of expenditures for 
building costs for 6168 apartments.

Page 15 of 179



Page  6

July - 2024 August - 2024 Change
ASSETS

Current Assets  
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Petty Cash 31,130,851$            13,356,823$              (17,774,028)$             
Cash Equivalents 54,556,827              55,497,114                940,287                      

Cash and Cash Equivalents, total 85,687,678              68,853,937                (16,833,741)               AA

Inventories, Deposits & Prepaids 5,961,387                5,938,541                  (22,846)                       
Accounts Receivable:

Other A/R 33,028,496              31,642,673                (1,385,823)                 
Patient A/R, net of allowance 1,941,585                1,531,659                  (409,926)                     

Current Assets, total 126,619,146$          107,966,810$            (18,652,336)$             BB

Capital Assets
Land 13,004,859              12,709,144                (295,715)                     
Building and Improvements 52,615,143              52,910,858                295,715                      
Furniture, Equipment and Vehicles 10,826,281              10,826,281                -                               
Construction in Progress 5,764,164                5,794,164                  30,000                        
Accumulated Depreciation (35,692,400)             (35,692,400)               -                               

Capital Assets, net total 46,518,047$            46,548,047$              30,000$                      CC

Total Assets 173,137,193$          154,514,857$            (18,622,336)$             

LIABILITIES & FUND BALANCE/NET POSITION
Liabilities

Unearned Revenues 24,504,332$            7,878,196$                (16,626,136)$             DD
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 16,288,973              15,288,774                (1,000,199)                 EE
Long term Liabilities 9,048,192                9,168,675                  120,483                      

Liabilities, total 49,841,497$            32,335,645$              (17,505,852)$             FF

Fund Balance/Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets 46,518,047              46,548,047                30,000                        
Nonspendable 5,961,387                5,938,541                  (22,846)                       
Assigned 66,514,014              66,514,014                -                               
Unassigned/Unrestricted 5,367,300                5,390,145                  22,845                        
Change in fund balance/net position (1,065,052)               (2,211,535)                 (1,146,483)                 

Fund Balance/Net Position, Total 123,295,696$          122,179,212$            (1,116,484)$               

Total Liabilities & Fund Balance/Net Position 173,137,193$          154,514,857$            (18,622,336)$             

The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Balance Sheet

August 31, 2024
Non-GAAP / Budgetary-Basis Reporting

Unaudited - Subject to Change

Page 16 of 179



Page 7

Balance Sheet
AA Cash and Investments

BB Other Accounts receivable, and Patient A/R, net of allowance

As presented Correct presentation
Accounts Receivable: July - 2024 July - 2024 Net change

Other A/R 31,361,173$              33,028,496$              1,667,323$            
Patient A/R, net of allowance 3,608,908                   1,941,585                   (1,667,323)             
Total A/R 34,970,081$              34,970,081$              -$                        

Other A/R

CC Capital assets, net

DD Unearned Revenues

EE Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

FF Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities, and Long-term liabilities

As presented Correct presentation
Liabilities July - 2024 July - 2024 Net change

Unearned Revenues 24,504,332$              24,504,332$              -$                        
AP and Accrued Liabilities 24,535,559                16,288,973                (8,246,586)             
Long term Liabilities 801,606                      9,048,192                   8,246,586              

Total Liabilities 49,841,497$              49,841,497$              -$                        

During the current month, the long-term liabilities category was reviewed to accurately reflect long-term liabilities accounts. Upon review, it was noted that 
the entire Accrued PTO Payable was presented as "Accrued liabilities" as opposed to presenting the long-term portion separately and only the amount due 
within one year in "Accrued liabilities". 

The decrease in Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities is due to the regular timing of payments and primarily due to an additional $4.8M owed to HCPC as 
of July 31, 2024 paid during August 2024 (amounts due on the new rates for existing beds under the new contract effective September 1, 2023).

The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Notes to Statements Presented

Non-GAAP / Budgetary-Basis reporting

Unearned income decreased due to continued recognition of state and federal revenue allocations.

August 31, 2024

The decrease in cash and cash equivalents is in line with normal operating conditions.  We made an additional payment in August of $7.8M related to the 
amended performance contract with HHSC primarily related to new bed rates at HCPC.

The decrease in Other Accounts Receivable from July 2024 to August 2024 is due to the continued effort to collect on outstanding contract invoices.

During the current month, the A/R accounts categories were reviewed and it was found that certain accounts were presented in the "Patient A/R" category 
when the most appropriate category should have been "Other A/R".

During the current month, the capital assets categories were reviewed and it was found that reclassifications were needed to agree to the 08/31/2023 
audited financial statements; in addition, to accurately reflect capital assets net balance, the accumulated depreciation of capital assets through the 
08/31/2023 year-end was recorded.  Additional entries are expected to record the impact of the FYE 2024 capital assets activity.

Page 17 of 179



Page 8

Local Government Investment Pools (LGIPs)  Beginning Balance Transfer In Transfer Out  Interest Income Ending Balance  Portfolio % 
 Monthly 

Yield 
Texas CLASS  

Texas CLASS General Fund 32,533,826$            11,400,000$            (10,748,493)$           187,413$                 33,372,746$            60.13% 5.45%

TexPool
TexPool Prime 18,397,929              -                            -                            85,056                      18,482,985              33.30% 5.46%
TexPool General Fund 1,103,415                -                            -                            4,965                        1,108,380                2.00% 5.32%
TexPool Internal Service Fund 2,521,657                -                            -                            11,346                      2,533,003                4.56% 5.32%

TexPool Sub-Total 22,023,001              -                            -                            101,367                    22,124,368              39.86% 5.44%

Total Investments 54,556,827$            11,400,000$            (10,748,493)$           288,780$                 55,497,114$            99.99% 5.44%

Additional Interest on Checking Accounts 48,489                      

Total Interest Earned during the current month 337,269$                 

3 Month Weighted Average Maturity (Days) 1.00
3 Month Weighted Average Yield 5.44%
3 Month Rolling Weighted Average Daily Treasury Bill Rate (4 weeks) 5.24%
Interest Rate - Chase Hybrid Checking 3.70%
ECR - Chase 3.80%

Approved:

Thania D. Gonzalez
Controller

The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD

Investment Portfolio

August 31, 2024

This Investment Portfolio Report of The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD as of August 31, 2024, is in compliance with the provisions of the Public Funds Investment Act 
(PFIA), Chapter 2256 of the Texas Government Code and the Investment Strategy approved by the Board of Trustees.

$33,372,746

$18,482,985

$1,108,380
$2,533,003

Investment Portfolio Weight

Texas CLASS General Fund TexPool Prime
TexPool General Fund TexPool Internal Service Fund

Page 18 of 179



Page 9
The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD

Monthly Report of Financial Transactions Related to Payments of Liabilities for Employee Benefits
August 31, 2024

Vendor Description
Monthly Not-To-

Exceed (1) Aug-24
Fiscal Year to Date 

Total

Lincoln Financial Group (LFG)(2) Retirement Funds (401a, 403b, 457) $3,500,000 $1,919,887 $25,594,719

Blue Cross Blue Shield of TX Health and Dental Insurance $3,200,000 $2,470,642 $29,795,389

UNUM Life Insurance $300,000 $204,247 $2,482,315

Notes: 
(1)  As established by the Board Resolution: Harris Center Board of Trustees Signature Authorization and Delegation Authority for Certain Items 
effective May 23, 2023.
(2)  LFG payments include PP 08A & 08B

Page 19 of 179



Days-Cash-On-Hand (DCOH)– as of 08-31-2024
(amounts in millions)

78

125

72
75

62

39

82

104

80
92

69
67

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

 $-

 $20.00

 $40.00

 $60.00

 $80.00

 $100.00

 $120.00

 Cash & Equivalents  Avg. Monthly Operating Expenses DCOH

DCOH = Cash & Equivalents @ Month End divided by Daily Operating Expenses

$75.44 
$68.85 

$28.04 $29.52 

82
71

64
66
68
70
72
74
76
78
80
82
84

 $-

 $10.00

 $20.00

 $30.00

 $40.00

 $50.00

 $60.00

 $70.00

 $80.00

FYE 2023 FYE 2024

  Cash & Equivalents  Avg. Monthly Operating Expenses   DCOH

Page 20 of 179



Ratios – as of 08/31/2024

**Working Capital Ratio = Current Assets/Current Liabilities

21.50%
24.34% 26.47%

31.75%

38.26%

47.43%

6.45% 7.03% 7.50%
9.52%

11.06%
13.45%

5.9

5.0
4.7

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

30.00%

35.00%

40.00%

45.00%

50.00%

as of 08/31/2022 as of 08/31/2023 as of 08/31/2024

Total Liabilities from Total Net Position Total Liabilities from Unrestricted Net Position LT Liabilities  from Total Net Position
LT Liabilities from Unrestricted Net Position Working Capital Ratio

Page 21 of 179



Available Resources (in Millions) – as of 08-31-2024

$54.01
44%

$23.67
19%

$8.66
7%

$5.94
5%

$29.90
25%

Invested in Capital Assets Liabilities (other than C/A) Compensated Absences Nonspendable Unrestricted/Assigned

Page 22 of 179





1 
 

COMMUNITY HEALTH CENTER CO-APPLICANT AGREEMENT 
This Co-Applicant Agreement ("Agreement") shall memorialize and reiterate the nature of 

the relationship between the Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD ("HARRIS CENTER") and 
the Harris Center for Integrated Care Co-Applicant ("HCIC") which shall be considered Co-
Applicants ("Co-Applicants") as applicable to the Health Resources and Services Administration 
(“HRSA”) Health Center Program for purposes of operating a community health center project in 
Harris County, Texas, and 

WHEREAS, the HARRIS CENTER is a public agency under Texas law; and 

WHEREAS, the HARRIS CENTER provides primary health care services to medically 
underserved communities and vulnerable populations in Harris County; and 

WHEREAS, under the Community Health Center Program, and subject to its requirements, 
the HARRIS CENTER, as a public agency, may apply, in collaboration with a co-applicant 
governing body, to operate a health center project that provides a range of primary care and enabling 
services, as mandated by Section 330 of the Public Health Service Act, to medically underserved 
communities and vulnerable populations; and 

WHEREAS, the HARRIS CENTER believes it can better serve these populations and 
otherwise expand services through HARRIS CENTER operating its outpatient clinical sites that 
constitute the community health center project in accordance with the HRSA Health Center 
Program; and 

WHEREAS, the community health center project in-scope activities shall be referred to 
herein collectively as the “Community Health Center”; and 

WHEREAS, the HARRIS CENTER's participation in the Health Center Program requires 
the HARRIS CENTER to comply with Section 330 of the Public Health Service Act, 42 C.F.R. 
Part 51c, 45 C.F.R. Part 75, and HRSA Health Center Program guidance, including but not limited 
to the HRSA Health Center Program Compliance Manual (the “Compliance Manual”) 
(collectively, the “HRSA Programmatic Requirements”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Community Health Center shall be governed by the HCIC Board of 

Directors body, which provides the required community-based governance for the Community 
Health Center and otherwise meets the governing board requirements set forth in Chapters 19 and 
20 of the Compliance Manual; and 
 

WHEREAS, the existence of an independent HCIC that assumes specified authority and 
oversight responsibility over the Community Health Center is a legal requirement for the HARRIS 
CENTER's participation in the Health Center Program; and 

WHEREAS, the oversight of the Community Health Center shall be undertaken in the 
manner specified in the HRSA Programmatic Requirements, recognizing the Co-Applicant status 
of the HCIC Board and HARRIS CENTER, a unit of local government; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Parties wish to set forth in this Agreement, the authorities to be exercised 
by each Party and the shared responsibilities of the Parties with respect to the Community Health 

Page 23 of 179



2 
 

Center project, in accordance with the HRSA Programmatic Requirements, other applicable law, 
and the HARRIS CENTER policies and procedures; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, the HARRIS CENTER and the HCIC agree as follows: 
1) Role of the HCIC. 

a) Composition. As described in the HCIC's Bylaws, HCIC provides community-based 
governance and oversight of the HARRIS CENTER's Community Health Center project. 
The structure and composition of the HCIC Board shall be as follows: 

(1) A majority, at least fifty-one percent (51 %), of the HCIC Directors must be current, 
registered patients of the Community Health Center and must have accessed the 
Community Health Center in the past 24 months to receive at least one or more in-
scope services(s), provided by a licensed independent practitioner exercising 
independent clinical judgment, that generated a health center visit, for which a bill 
was generated ("Patients"). A legal guardian of a dependent child or adult, or a legal 
sponsor of an immigrant, may also be considered a Patient for HCIC composition 
purposes. Patients must be residents of Harris County and must be individuals who, 
taken collectively, reasonably represent the Community Health Center’s patients in 
terms of demographic factors such as race, ethnicity, disability and gender. 

(2) The remaining HCIC Directors shall be representative of the general community 
served by the Community Health Center, shall be residents of Harris County, and 
shall be selected for their skills, expertise and perspectives in, but not limited to, 
finance, legal affairs, business, health, managed care, social services, labor relations, 
and government. No more than one-half of such HCIC Directors may be individuals 
who derive more than ten percent (10%) of their annual income from the health care 
industry. 

(3) The HCIC Board of Directors shall consist of at least nine (9) and no more than 
twenty-five (25) Directors.   

(4) No HCIC Directors or their immediate family members (i.e. spouses, children, 
parents, or siblings through blood, marriage, or adoption), shall be an employee of 
the HARRIS CENTER. 

(5) The HCIC Board of Directors shall select HCIC Directors and officers in accordance 
with the election process and nominating process described in the HCIC’s Bylaws.  
No other individual or entity, including but not limited to HARRIS CENTER, may 
appoint a majority of the HCIC Directors, a majority of the patient Directors, or the 
HCIC Board chair. 

(6) A HCIC Director may be removed in accordance with HCIC Bylaws.  
(7) The term of office for HCIC Directors pursuant to HCIC Bylaws shall be two (2) 

years. A Director shall be limited to no more than three (3) consecutive terms of 
membership. The effective date of membership corresponds to the date of 
appointment. 

b) Governance Authorities and Responsibilities 
The HCIC shall have authority and responsibility for the Community Health Center activities 
as set forth below. 

Page 24 of 179



3 
 

1. The HARRIS CENTER as a Public Agency. In accordance with the HRSA 
Programmatic Requirements, the HARRIS CENTER and the HCIC recognize that 
the HARRIS CENTER as a public agency is constrained by law in the delegation of 
certain government functions to other entities, and thus the HARRIS CENTER is 
permitted to retain authority over certain policies for the operation of the Community 
Health Center. Specifically, the HARRIS CENTER as a public agency center shall 
retain authority for the establishment of the following types of general policies for 
the Community Health Cetner project: 

a. Fiscal Policies 
i. Internal control procedures to ensure sound financial management 

procedures. 
ii. Purchasing policies and standards. 

b. Personnel Policies 
i. Employee selection, performance review/evaluations and dismissal 

procedures. 
ii. Employee compensation, including wage and salary scales and 

benefit packages. 
iii. Position descriptions and classification. 
iv. Employee grievance procedures. 
v. Equal opportunity practices 

2. Collaborative Exercise of Authority. While the HARRIS CENTER, a public agency, 
shall be the recipient of the HRSA Health Center Program grant and accountable for 
carrying out the approved Community Health Center scope of project, the term "co-
applicant" is used to reflect that the HARRIS CENTER, as a public agency, would 
not qualify on its own as meeting all the Health Center Program governance 
requirements. Both the HARRIS CENTER and the co-applicant HCIC collectively 
carry out the Health Center Program project.  The HCIC Board of Directors, 
however, retains the ultimate decision-making on duties and authorities beyond the 
general types of fiscal and personnel policies described above. The co-applicant 
arrangement allows for the HCIC and the HARRIS CENTER to work collaboratively 
in the exercise of governance responsibilities. 

3. Adoption of Policies. Subject to the HARRIS CENTER's fiscal and personnel 
policies, the HCIC shall adopt the Community Health Center’s policies concerning: 
(i) hours of operation; (ii) health services provided; (iii) quality-of-care audit 
procedures; (iv) in the event of relocation or redevelopment of the physical plant, the 
locations of the service site(s); (v) the sliding fee discount program and 
billing/collections policies; and (vi) quality improvement/assurance; 

4. Chief Executive Officer. The HARRIS CENTER’s Chief Executive Officer shall 
serve as the Chief Executive Officer of the Community Health Center project. 
Subject to the Harris Center’s personnel policies, the Harris Center’s Board of 
Trustees shall have final authority to select, remove and evaluate the Chief Executive 
Officer of the Community Health Center. The Chief Executive Officer of the 
community health center project shall be distinct from the Harris Center Integrated 
Care Director of Operations, who shall serve as the Project Director, as described 
below in Section c1. 

5. Approval of the Annual Budgets. Subject to the HARRIS CENTER's fiscal policies, 
the HCIC shall have authority to approve the Community Health Center's annual 
operating and capital budget, consistent with this Agreement. 

6. Financial Management Protocol. Subject to and consistent with this Agreement, the 
HCIC and the HARRIS CENTER Board of Trustees shall establish a written protocol 

Page 25 of 179



4 
 

regarding the adoption and periodic updating of policies for the financial 
management practices of the Health Center (including a system to assure 
accountability for the Community Health Center's resources, provision of an annual 
audit, long-range financial planning, and accounting  procedures).  The HCIC Board 
shall monitor the financial status of the Community Health Center, including 
reviewing the results of the annual audit, and ensuring appropriate follow-up actions 
are taken.   

7. Evaluation of the Community Health Center Project’s Activities and Achievements. 
On at least an annual basis, the HCIC, in conjunction with the HARRIS CENTER, 
shall conduct an evaluation of the Community Health Center project’s activities and 
achievements and recommend, as necessary, revision of the Community Health 
Center project’s goals, objectives and strategic plan. 

8. Approval of Applications. The HCIC shall approve applications related to the Health 
Center Program project, including but not limited to HRSA grant applications and 
applications to change the scope of the Health Center Program project. 

9. Compliance. The HCIC, in conjunction with the HARRIS CENTER, shall assure the 
Community Health Center project’s compliance with applicable federal, state and 
local laws, regulations and policies, including but not limited to the HRSA 
Programmatic Requirements. The HARRIS CENTER shall provide the HCIC with 
periodic reports regarding the Community Health Center project’s legal and 
regulatory compliance program. On a regular basis, the HCIC shall evaluate the 
Community Health Center project’s compliance activities and recommend, as 
necessary, the revision, restructuring, or updating of the compliance program by the 
HARRIS CENTER. The HCIC Board understands and agrees that the HCIC shall 
operate in a manner consistent with the HARRIS CENTER Compliance Program 
and with the applicable policies (e.g., patient privacy, confidentiality, 
whistleblowers, etc.). The HCIC Board further understands and agrees that HCIC 
may be subject to monitoring, audit, and investigation by the HARRIS CENTER 
Compliance Officer and other Compliance Department staff. The HCIC Board agrees 
to collaborate with any such efforts. 

10. Quality Management. The HCIC shall evaluate the quality management programs 
developed and recommended by the staff of the Community Health Center project 
and approved by the HARRIS CENTER’S Board of Trustees. The HCIC shall be 
integrated into the HARRIS CENTER's quality management activities related to the 
Community Health Center project, including audits and state quality management 
reporting requirements. Quality management reports shall be shared periodically 
between the HCIC and the HARRIS CENTER's employees and Board members 
responsible for quality management matters at the Community Health Center project. 
The Health Center's Integrated Care Director of Operations Director shall, as 
appropriate, report to the HCIC on matters concerning the quality of the medical 
services provided by the Health Center.  The HCIC Board shall evaluate the 
Community Health Center’s performance based on quality assurance/quality 
improvement assessments and other information received from the Harris Center 
Integrated Care Director of Operations and other HARRIS CENTER staff, and 
ensuring appropriate follow-up actions are taken regarding achievement of project 
objectives, service utilization patterns, quality of care; efficiency and effectiveness 
of the Community Health Center, and patient satisfaction, including addressing any 
patient grievances.   

11. Personnel Policies. Subject to and consistent with this Agreement, the HCIC ratifies 
and adopts the personnel policies and regulations developed and approved by the 

Page 26 of 179



5 
 

HARRIS CENTER (and as modified, revised or amended by the HARRIS CENTER) 
including, but not limited to, employee selection, performance review, evaluation, 
discipline and dismissal procedures, employee compensation, wage, salary and 
benefits, position descriptions and classifications, employee grievance procedures 
and processes, and equal employment opportunity practices. 

12. Standards of Conduct. The HCIC Board of Directors shall operate in a manner 
consistent with the Standards of Conduct, which shall align with the HRSA Conflicts 
of Interest Policy.   

13. Independence. Neither this Agreement nor the organizational structure and 
documents for HCIC shall allow for any other individual, entity or committee 
(including, but not limited to, the HARRIS CENTER and/or an executive committee 
authorized by the HCIC Board) to reserve approval authority or have veto power 
over the HCIC Board with regard to the Board’s required authorities and functions, 
as described above in this Section 1(b).  Accordingly, this Agreement shall not restrict 
or infringe upon the HCIC Board’s required authorities and functions, as set forth in 
Chapter 19 of the Compliance Manual, with the understanding that HARRIS 
CENTER, as a public agency, may reserve approval authority with regard to the 
personnel policies and the financial management and accounting policies which 
pertain to the Community Health Center operations. 
 

c) Duties and Evaluation of the Harris Center Integrated Care Director of Operations 
1. Duties. The Harris Center Integrated Care Director of Operations (a HARRIS CENTER 

employee) shall serve as the Project Director for the Community Health Center project 
and shall have responsibility for the general care, management, supervision, and 
direction of the Community Health Center project’s affairs, consistent with the priorities 
and policies established by the HCIC and the HARRIS CENTER. The Harris Center 
Integrated Care Director of Operations shall report directly to the HCIC and shall act in 
that capacity in accordance with the best interests of the Community Health Center 
project, regardless of and notwithstanding any employment arrangement between the 
Harris Center Integrated Care Director of Operations and the HARRIS CENTER. The 
Harris Center Integrated Care Director of Operations shall be responsible for the proper 
administration of all personnel policies applicable to the Health Center. The Harris 
Center Integrated Care Director of Operations also have the authority to administer all 
contracts for goods and services as required for the operation of the Community Health 
Center project, subject to the laws and policies applicable to the HARRIS CENTER's 
procurement and purchasing, the Health Center approved budget, and the laws and 
policies applicable to the HARRIS CENTER’S administration of the budget and 
contracts. 

2. Evaluation. The HCIC shall review the Integrated Care Director of Operations’ 
performance annually and shall comply with all applicable personnel, and other 
employment related requirements of the HARRIS CENTER. The review shall be 
coordinated and conducted by the HCIC's Executive Committee. The report of the annual 
review shall be submitted to the full HCIC Board and to the HARRIS CENTER's Health 
Services Agency. 

d) Selection, Approval, and Removal of the Harris Center Integrated Care Director of 
Operations. 
1. Search Committee. 

a. The Search Committee shall include representatives of the HCIC and the HARRIS 
CENTER. 

Page 27 of 179



6 
 

b. The Search Committee shall evaluate and conduct preliminary interviews of 
candidates for the Harris Center Integrated Care Director of Operations in 
accordance with the HARRIS CENTER's personnel policies and procedures. 

c. The Search Committee shall recommend one or more candidates from those 
individuals previously evaluated and interviewed for presentation to the HCIC. 

2. Selection and Approval. Subject to the HARRIS CENTER's personnel and hiring 
policies, the HCIC shall have authority to select and remove the Harris Center Integrated 
Care Director of Operations. The HARRIS CENTER retains approval over the selection 
to the extent that it is administering the legal employment of the individual.  

3. Removal. 
a. In accordance with the HARRIS CENTER's personnel policies, the Executive 

Committee identified in the HCIC Bylaws shall develop criteria for removal of the 
Harris Center Integrated Care Director of Operations, which will be presented to the 
full HCIC for approval. 

b. Subject to the HARRIS CENTER's personnel policies and related requirements, the 
HCIC shall have authority to require the removal of the Harris Center Integrated Care 
Director of Operations from his or her position based on the criteria developed by 
the Executive Committee and approved by the HCIC Board. 
 
 

2) Role of the HARRIS CENTER. 
a) Notwithstanding the terms of this Agreement or the Bylaws of HCIC, neither Party shall take 

any action inconsistent with the HARRIS CENTER's authority to manage: 
1. Fiscal Controls. 

a. The HARRIS CENTER shall develop and shall provide preliminary 
recommendation for the annual operating and capital budgets of the Community 
Health Center. The Harris Center Board of Trustees shall recommend such budgets 
to the HCIC for review and final approval. In the event that the HCIC does not 
approve the recommended budget, the HARRIS CENTER and the HCIC shall meet 
and confer to develop an appropriate budget that is satisfactory.  

b. The Parties shall not materially deviate from the adopted budget except that, 
consistent with HARRIS CENTER financial management and accounting systems, 
the HARRIS CENTER, as the public agency, may modify planned fiscal activities if 
there is a reduction in available resources (e.g. decreased levels of reimbursement, 
diminished revenues, or adverse labor events). The HARRIS CENTER shall 
immediately notify the HCIC of any budgetary change that would materially modify 
the budget. 

c. The HARRIS CENTER shall be solely responsible for the management of the 
financial affairs of the Community Health Center project, including capital and 
operating borrowing. 

d. The HARRIS CENTER shall have sole authority to develop and implement financial 
policies and controls related to the Community Health Center, in consultation with 
the HCIC, as set forth in this Agreement. 

e. All funds received for services provided and all income otherwise generated by the 
Community Health Center, including fees, premiums, third-party reimbursements 
and other state and local operational funding, and Section 330 grant funds, revenue 
received through fees and collections ("Program Income"), as well as all Program 
Income greater than the amount budgeted ("Excess Program Income"), shall be under 
the control of the HARRIS CENTER. All Program Income and Excess Program 
Income shall be used to further the goals of the Community Health Center's federally 

Page 28 of 179



7 
 

approved project and consistent with the policies and priorities established by the 
HCIC. Excess Program Income may not be used to supplant other HARRIS 
CENTER operating funds, whether designated for health or not, and must be retained 
for use to further the goals of the Community Health Center project.  

f. The HARRIS CENTER shall have sole authority to receive, manage, allocate, and 
disburse, as applicable, revenues necessary for the operation of the Health Center, 
consistent with this Agreement and federal grant funding and other guidelines, 
including the Uniform Guidance (45 CFR Part 75) that applies to funding from the 
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 

2. Funding From Governmental and Charitable Sources. Neither Party shall take any action 
that would negatively impact the HARRIS CENTER's funding from federal, state, or 
local sources or financial support from foundations or other charitable organizations. 

3. Employer-Employee Relations. 
a. Subject to the limitation of this Agreement regarding the selection, evaluation, 

approval and removal of the Health Center's Integrated Care’s Chief Executive 
Officer, the HARRIS CENTER shall have sole authority over employment matters 
and development and approval of personnel policies and procedures, including but 
not limited to, the selection, discipline and dismissal, salary and benefit scales, 
employee grievance procedures and processes, equal employment opportunity 
practices, labor disputes and other labor and human resources issues, as well as 
agreements for the provision of staff who are employees of other agencies or 
organizations. Consistent with this Agreement, the HCIC shall ratify and adopt the 
personnel policies and procedures developed and approved by the HARRIS 
CENTER. 

b. The Harris Center Integrated Care’s Chief Executive Officer shall be an employee of 
the HARRIS CENTER. Removal of the Harris Center Integrated Care’s Chief 
Executive Officer by the HCIC pursuant to this Agreement shall not constitute a 
termination of employment by the HARRIS CENTER nor impede the continuation 
of the Chief Executive Officer’s employment relationship with the HARRIS 
CENTER. 

b) Operational Responsibilities. Subject to the governance responsibilities exercised by the 
HCIC as administered by the Chief Executive Officer and the Harris Center Integrated Care 
Director of Operations, the HARRIS CENTER shall conduct the day-to-day operations of 
the Community Health Center project. Such operational responsibilities shall include but not 
be limited to: 
1. Applying for and maintaining all licenses, permits, certifications, accreditations and 

approvals necessary for the operation of the Community Health Center. 
2. Receiving, managing and disbursing, as applicable, revenues of the Community Health 

Center project consistent with the approved budget for the Community Health Center 
project. The HARRIS CENTER shall not be required to disburse funds for any 
expenditure not authorized by the approved budget. 

3. Subject to the limitations set forth in this Agreement, employing or contracting personnel 
to perform all clinical, managerial, and administrative services necessary to assure the 
provision of high-quality health care services to the Community Health Center project’s 
patients. 

4. Subject to the limitations set forth in this Agreement, managing and evaluating all 
Community Health Center project staff and, if necessary, disciplining, terminating or 
removing such staff pursuant to the HARRIS CENTER's personnel policies and 
processes. 

Page 29 of 179



8 
 

5. Preparing and submitting cost reports, supporting data, and other materials required in 
connection with reimbursement under Medicare, Medicaid, and other third-party 
payment contracts and programs. 

6. Providing for the annual audit of the Community Health Center project, which shall be 
undertaken in consultation with the HCIC in accordance with this Agreement, consistent 
with the requirements of 45 C.F.R. Part 75, and the compliance supplement applicable 
to the consolidated Health Center Program to determine, at a minimum, the fiscal 
integrity of financial transactions and reports and compliance with HRSA Programmatic 
Requirements and the fiscal policies of the HARRIS CENTER.   

7. Preparing monthly financial reports, which shall be submitted to the HCIC, and 
managing financial matters related to the operation of the Community Health Center. 

8. Developing and managing internal control systems, in consultation with the HCIC as set 
forth in this Agreement (as applicable), in accordance with sound management 
procedures and Section 330 that provide for: 
a. eligibility determinations, 
b. development, preparation, and safekeeping of records and books of account relating 

to the business and financial affairs of the Community Health Center; 
c. separate maintenance of the Health Center's business and financial records from 

other records related to the finances of the Health Services Agency so as to ensure 
that funds of the Community Health Center may be properly allocated; 

d. accounting procedures and financial controls in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles; 

e. a schedule of charges and partial payment schedules (i.e., a sliding fee schedule of 
discounts) for services provided to certain uninsured and underinsured patients with 
annual incomes at or below 200% of the federal poverty level guideline, and a full 
discount for those with annual incomes at or below 100% of the federal poverty 
guideline; however, the HCIC may elect to adopt a nominal fee policy for those with 
annual incomes at or below 100% of the federal poverty level guideline, provided 
that such nominal fee does not constitute a barrier to access to care and provided 
further that HCIC shall also adopt a policy for the waiver of the nominal fee for those 
who cannot pay it.; 

f. billing and collection of payments for services rendered to individuals who are: (1) 
eligible for federal, state or local public assistance; (2) eligible for payment by private 
third-party payors and (3) underinsured or uninsured and whose earnings fit the low-
income criteria; and 

g. compliance with the HRSA Compliance Manual and any other guidelines, as 
applicable. 

9. Establishing and approving policies applicable to the Community Health Center, with 
the exception of those policies that must be established and approved autonomously by 
the HCIC Board, as set forth herein and otherwise in accordance with Chapter 19 of the 
Compliance Manual.  

10. Establishing ongoing quality improvement programs, with the understanding that the 
applicable policies must be approved by the HCIC Board. 

11. Ensuring the effective and efficient operation of the Community Health Center. 
3) Mutual Obligations  

a) Compliance with Laws and Regulations. The Parties shall have a mutual commitment and 
responsibility to work together to ensure that the Community Health Center provides care in 
compliance with all applicable federal, state and local laws, policies and regulations. 

b) Financial Responsibility. Each Party agrees not to undertake expenditures in excess of the 
authorized budget and the available resources and to recognize the HARRIS CENTER’s 

Page 30 of 179



9 
 

responsibility with respect to the Fiscal Controls and related financial matters described in 
this Agreement. 

c) Expenses of Parties. The expenses of the HARRIS CENTER and the HCIC incurred in 
carrying out its respective obligations for governance and operation of the Community 
Health Center pursuant to this Agreement shall be considered expenses incurred in 
furtherance of the Community Health Center project and thus shall be reimbursed in 
accordance with  applicable program requirements and the fiscal policies of the HARRIS 
CENTER. 

d) Record-Keeping and Reporting. 
1. Each Party shall maintain records, reports, supporting documents and all other relevant 

books, papers and other documents to enable the Parties to meet all Health Center-related 
reporting requirements. Records shall be maintained for a period of seven (7) years from 
the date this Agreement expires or is terminated, unless state and/or federal law requires 
that records be maintained for a period greater than the seven (7) year period specified 
herein ("the retention period"). If an audit, litigation, or other action involving the records 
is started before the end of the retention period, the Parties agree to maintain the records 
until the end of the retention period or until the audit, litigation, or other action is 
completed, whichever is later. The Parties shall make available to each other, DHHS and 
the Comptroller General of the United States, the Texas Department of Health Care 
Services, the Office of the Comptroller of the State of Texas or any of their duly 
authorized representatives, upon appropriate notice, such records, reports, books, 
documents, and papers as may be necessary for audit, examination, excerpt, 
transcription, and copy purposes, for as long as such records, reports, books, documents, 
and papers are retained. This right also includes timely and reasonable access to each 
Party's personnel for purposes of interview and discussion related to such documents. 

2. Confidentiality. Subject to the HARRIS CENTER's obligations, if any, to make public 
its records in accordance with applicable law, the Parties agree that all information, 
records, data, and data elements collected and maintained for the administration of this 
Agreement (in any form, including, computer diskettes or other storage devices) shall be 
treated as confidential and proprietary information. Accordingly, each Party shall take 
all reasonable precautions to protect such information from unauthorized disclosure; 
however, nothing contained herein shall be construed to prohibit any authorized Federal 
or other appropriate official from obtaining, reviewing, and auditing any information, 
record, data, and data element to which (s)he is lawfully entitled. The HCIC Board of 
Directors and the HARRIS CENTER (and its directors, officers, employees, agents, and 
contractors) shall maintain the privacy and confidentiality of all protected health 
information ("PHI") of the  patients receiving care provided by the Community Health 
Center, in accordance with all applicable state and federal laws and regulations, 
including the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act ("HIPAA"). 

3. Medical Records. The Parties agree that the HARRIS CENTER, as the operator of the 
Community Health Center, shall retain ownership of all medical records established and 
maintained relating to diagnosis and treatment of patients served by the Community 
Health Center. 

e) Insurance. 
1. The HARRIS CENTER shall maintain Professional Liability Insurance, Malpractice, 

Director & Officers Insurance, Workers' Compensation Insurance, and General Liability, 
Property Damage Insurance and all other necessary insurance to cover Community 
Health Center activities to extend throughout the term of this agreement. 

2. Directors' and Officers' Insurance for the HCIC shall be required. 

Page 31 of 179



10 
 

f) Ownership of Property Acquired with Grant Funds. The provisions of 45 C.F.R. S 74.40, et 
seq., apply to tangible property acquired with HRSA federal grant funds. The Parties agree 
that the HARRIS CENTER shall be the title holder to all property purchased with grant 
funds. The Parties acknowledge that items purchased with federal grant funds may be subject 
to Notices of Federal Interest which may affect disposition of assets during and after their 
useful life, irrespective of depreciation schedules. The HARRIS CENTER will be 
responsible for adherence to Notice of Federal Interest requirements.  

4) Governing Law. 
a) Applicable Laws, Regulations and Policies. This Agreement shall be governed and construed 

in accordance with applicable Federal laws, regulations, and policies. In addition, each Party 
covenants to comply with all applicable laws, ordinances and codes of the State of Texas 
and all licensing standards and applicable accreditation standards. 

b) New HRSA Directives. The Health Center's Integrated Care Director of Operations shall 
submit promptly to each Party any directives or policies that are received from HRSA after 
execution of this Agreement and are pertinent to applicable Section 330 grants, and the 
Parties shall comply with such additional directives/policies, as they become applicable. 

c) Non-Discrimination. The Officers, Directors, committee members, employees and persons 
serviced by the HCIC shall be selected entirely on a non-discriminatory basis with respect 
to race, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, religion, national origin, physical disability, 
or age. By signing this Agreement, the HCIC agrees to comply with the HARRIS CENTER's 
Equal Employment Policy and all related personnel policies as well as all related federal 
requirements.  

5) Term. This Agreement shall remain in effect during the project period of any Section 330 grant 
award designation that the HARRIS CENTER receives with the HCIC Board of Directors as its 
co-applicant, unless terminated at an earlier date in accordance with the terms of Section 6 of 
this Agreement. Both Parties acknowledge and agree that if the Agreement is terminated, the 
Community Health Center project will cease to be in compliance with HRSA Programmatic 
Requirements which would jeopardize the HRSA grant award.  

6) Termination. 
a) Immediate Termination. This Agreement shall terminate immediately upon the non-renewal 

or termination of the Section 330 grant.  
b) For Cause Termination. The HARRIS CENTER may terminate this Agreement "for cause" 

in the event that the HCIC Board fails to meet its material obligations under this Agreement. 
Such "for cause" termination shall require ninety days prior written notice of intent to 
terminate during which period the HCIC Board may cure such failure or demonstrate that 
no such failure has occurred. Any dispute between the Parties regarding whether a breach of 
a material obligation has occurred, or that such a breach has been satisfactorily cured, will 
be resolved in accordance with this Agreement. 

c) Termination by Mutual Agreement. This Agreement may be terminated upon the mutual 
approval of the Parties in writing. 

7) Dispute Resolution and Mediation. The Parties shall first attempt to resolve any dispute or 
impasse in decision-making arising under or relating to this Agreement by informal discussions 
between the Chief Executive Officer of the Community Health Center and the Chair of the HCIC 
Board of Directors. In a reasonable time following such discussions (not to exceed thirty (30) 
days), any dispute or impasse in decision-making shall be resolved by mediation. If the Parties 
are unable to resolve the dispute through mediation, either Party may pursue any remedy 
available at law. 

8) Notices. All notices permitted or required by this Agreement shall be deemed given when made 
in writing and delivered personally or deposited in the United States Mail, first class postage 

Page 32 of 179



11 
 

prepaid, Certified and Return Receipt Requested, addressed to the other Party at the addresses 
set forth below, or such other addresses as the Party may designate in writing: 

For Co-Applicant: 
Shaukat Zakaria 
HARRIS CENTER Integrated Community Health Centers Co-Applicant HCIC 
9401 Southwest Freeway 
Houston, TX 77074 
 
For Community Health Center Operations: 
 
Harris Center Integrated Care Director of Operations 
9401 Southwest Freeway 
Houston, TX 77074 
 
 
For HARRIS CENTER for Mental Health & IDD 
 
Chief Executive Officer 
9401 Southwest Freeway 
Houston, TX 77074 
 

9) Severability. 

The terms of this Agreement are severable, and the illegality or invalidity of any term or 
provision shall not affect the validity of any other term or provision, all of which shall remain 
in full force and effect. 

10) Amendments. 

The Parties may agree to amend this Agreement which shall be in writing and signed by the 
Parties. 

11) Waiver. 

No provision of this Agreement shall be waived by an act, omission or knowledge of a Party or 
its agents of employees except by an instrument in writing expressly waiving such provision and 
signed by a duly authorized officer or representative of the waiving Party. 

12) Third-Party Beneficiaries. 

None of the provisions of this Agreement shall be for the benefit of or enforceable by any third 
party, including, without limitation, any creditor of either Party. No third-party shall obtain any 
right under any provision of this Agreement or shall by reason of any provisions make any claim 
relating to any debt, liability, obligation or otherwise against any Party to this Agreement. 

13) Force Majeure. 

In the event either Party is unable to timely perform its obligations hereunder due to causes that 
are beyond its control, including, without limitation, strikes, riots, earthquakes, epidemics, war, 

Page 33 of 179



12 
 

fire, or any other general catastrophe or act of God, neither Party shall be liable to the other for 
any loss or damage resulting therefrom. 

14) Co-Applicant HCIC Bylaws. 

Duly approved bylaws have been enacted by the HCIC and are party to this Agreement 
articulating an enduring structure and scope of authority guiding the activities of the HCIC. 
Those bylaws mirror this Agreement and are intended for the regulation of the HCIC and shall 
be regarded as rules and regulations of the HCIC. 

15) Entire Agreement. 

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties and no statements, 
promises or inducements made by a Party or by agents of either Party which are not contained 
in this Agreement shall be valid or binding. 

 

Execution: 

In witness whereof, the Parties have executed this agreement below by their duly authorized 
representatives. 

 

The Harris Center Integrated Care   The Harris Center for Mental Health & IDD 

 

__________________________   ___________________________________ 

Shaukat Zakaria, Chair    Wayne Young, MBA, LPC, FACHE 
       Chief Executive Officer 
 

   

       ____________________________________ 

       Dr. Robin Gearing, Board Chair 
       The Harris Center for Mental Health & IDD 
 

        

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

       ____________________________________ 

       Kendra Thomas, JD, LPC 
       General Counsel 
 

 
  

Page 34 of 179



























1 

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION 

OF  

THE HARRIS CENTER FOR INTEGRATED CARE 

I, the undersigned natural person of the age of eighteen (18) years or more, acting as 

incorporator of a corporation under the Texas Non-Profit Corporation (the “Act”), do hereby adopt 

the following Articles of incorporation for such corporation: 

ARTICLE 1 - Name 

The name of the corporation is The Harris Center for Integrated Care. 

ARTICLE 2 – Registered Office 

The street address of the initial registered office of the corporation is 9401 Southwest 

Freeway, Houston, Texas 77074 and the name of its registered agent at such address is 

Wayne Young, CEO. 

ARTICLE 3 – Board of Directors/Management 

The Board of Directors are: 

Name  Address 

Robin E. Gearing, Ph.D. 9401 Southwest Freeway 
Houston, Texas 77074 

Luis A. Fernandez, M.D. 9401 Southwest Freeway 
Houston, Texas 77074 

Max A. Miller, Jr., MTH, D.D. 9401 Southwest Freeway 
Houston, Texas 77074 

Jim Lykes 9401 Southwest Freeway 
Houston, Texas 77074 

Shaukat Zakaria 9401 Southwest Freeway 
Houston, Texas 77074 

Charity Ferrell  9401 Southwest Freeway 
Houston, Texas 77074 

Page 45 of 179



2 

Solomon Gonzalez 9401 Southwest Freeway 
Houston, Texas 77074 

Chauncey Kinchen 9401 Southwest Freeway 
Houston, Texas 77074 

Emily Lawrence 9401 Southwest Freeway 
Houston, Texas 77074 

ARTICLE 4 – Organization Structure 

The corporation will not have members. 

ARTICLE 5 -Purpose 

The Harris Center for Integrated Care shall operate exclusively for education and charitable 

purposes as defined in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. 

The specific purpose of this corporation is to: 

a) Provide cost-effective, quality heath care in a nondiscriminatory, compassionate,

and professional manner, regardless of an individual's ability to pay.

ARTICLE 6 – Supplemental Provisions 

1) Except as other provided in this Certification of Formation, the Corporation shall have all

the powers of a non-profit corporations as provided for in the Texas Business Organization

Code("Code"). Moreover. The Corporation shall have all implied powers necessary and

proper to carry out its express powers.

2) Except as otherwise provided in this Certificate of Formation and in the Bylaws of the

Corporation, the Board of Directors shall direct and manage the Corporation. The manner

of selection, duties, terms, and other matters relating to the Board of Directors shall be

provided in the Bylaws. The authority of the Board of Directors shall be limited to the

extent expressly set forth in this Certificate of Formation and in the Bylaws of the

Corporation.

3) The Corporation shall have no power to take any action prohibited by the Code.

Page 46 of 179



3 
 

4) The Corporation shall have no power to take any action that would be inconsistent with the 

requirements for tax exemption under Internal Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3) and related 

regulations, rulings, and procedures. The Corporation shall have no power to take any 

action that would be inconsistent with the requirements for receiving tax deductible 

charitable contributions under Internal Revenue Code Section 170(c)(2) and related 

regulations, rulings, and procedures. 

 
5) All of the assets, property, income, revenue, and earnings of the Corporation shall be held, 

used, managed, devoted, expended, and applied at the discretion and judgment of the Board 

of Directors, subject to the Bylaws of the Corporation, to conduct the objectives and 

purposes of the Corporation. The Corporation shall not pay dividends or other corporate 

income to its directors or officers or otherwise accrue distributable profits or permit the 

realization of private gain. 

 
6) No part of the net earnings of the corporation shall inure to the benefit of, or be distributable 

to its members, trustees, officers, or other private persons, except that the corporation shall 

be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation for services rendered and 

to make payments and distributions in furtherance of the purposes set forth in Article Third 

hereof. No substantial part of the activities of the corporation shall be the carrying on of 

propaganda, or otherwise attempting to influence legislation, and the corporation shall not 

participate in, or intervene in (including the publishing or distribution of statements) any 

political campaign on behalf of or in opposition to any candidate for public office. 

Notwithstanding any other provision of these articles, the corporation shall not carry on 

any other activities not permitted to be carried on (a) by a corporation exempt from federal 

income tax under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, or the corresponding 

section of any future federal tax code, or (b) by a corporation, contributions to which are 

deductible under section 170(c)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code, or the corresponding 

section of any future federal tax code. 

 
7) No substantial part of the activities of the Corporation shall consist of carrying on 

propaganda or otherwise attempt to influence legislation, nor shall the Corporation 

participate in, or intervene, in (including the publishing or distributing of statements) any 

political campaign on behalf of, or in opposition to, any candidate for public office. The 

Page 47 of 179



4 
 

Corporation shall not have objectives that characterize it as an "action organization" as 

defined by the Internal Revenue Code and related regulations, rulings, and procedures. 

 
8) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Certificate of Formation, the Corporation shall 

in no manner be controlled by or under the direction or acting in the substantial interest of 

any private individual, firm, corporation, partnership, or association seeking to derive, 

profit, or gain therefrom or seeking to eliminate or minimize losses in any dealing or 

transactions with the Corporation. 

 
9) The Corporation shall not engage in activities or use its assets in any manner not in 

furtherance of one or more exempt purposes, as set forth above and defined by the Internal 

Revenue Code and related regulations, rulings, and procedures, except to an insubstantial 

degree. 

 
10) The Corporation shall not carry on an unrelated trade or business except as a secondary 

purpose related to the Corporation's primary exempt purposes. 

 
11) Upon the dissolution of the corporation, assets shall be distributed for one or more exempt 

purposes within the meaning of section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, or the 

corresponding section of any future federal tax code, or shall be distributed to the federal 

government, or to a state or local government, for a public purpose. Any such assets not so 

disposed of shall be disposed of by a Court of Competent Jurisdiction of the county in 

which the principal office of the corporation is then located, exclusively for such purposes 

or to such organization or organizations, as said Court shall determine, which are organized 

and operated exclusively for such purposes. 

 

ARTICLE 6 – Incorporator/Organizer 

 
The name of the address of the incorporator/organizer is: 

 Name      Address 

 Wayne Young     9401 Southwest Freeway 
       Houston, Texas 77074 
 

Page 48 of 179



5 
 

 
     By: ___________________________________________ 
             Wayne Young, CEO of The Harris Center 
 

Date: ________________________________ 
 
 
 
     By: ___________________________________________ 
             Robin E, Gearing Ph.D., Harris Center Board Chair 

                                                            Date: ________________________________ 
 
 
 
     By: __________________________________________ 

Shaukat Zakaria, Harris Center for Integrated Care        
Board Chair 
 

                                                          Date: ________________________________ 

 

 

THE STATE OF TEXAS § 

 § 

COUNTY OF HARRIS § 

 

This instrument was acknowledged before me, on this the _____ day of ________________, 2024, 

by _____________________________________, The Chief Executive Officer of The Harris 

Center for Mental Health and IDD. 

 _____________________________________ 
 Notary Public, State of Texas 
 My Commission Expires on ______________ 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 49 of 179



6 
 

 

THE STATE OF TEXAS § 

 § 

COUNTY OF HARRIS § 

 

This instrument was acknowledged before me, on this the _____ day of ________________, 2024, 

by _____________________________________, The Harris Center Board Chair. 

 _____________________________________ 
 Notary Public, State of Texas 
 My Commission Expires on ______________ 
 
 
 
THE STATE OF TEXAS § 

 § 

COUNTY OF HARRIS § 

 

This instrument was acknowledged before me, on this the _____ day of ________________, 2024, 

by _____________________________________, Harris Center for Integrated Care Board Chair. 

 _____________________________________ 
 Notary Public, State of Texas 
 My Commission Expires on ______________ 
 

 

Page 50 of 179





SF-424A: Budget Information 
OMB No.: 4040-0006 Expiration Date: 02/28/2025 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES 
Health Resources and Services Administration  

FORM SF-424A: BUDGET INFORMATION 

FOR HRSA USE ONLY 

Grant Number Application 
Tracking Number 

Section A – Budget Summary 

Grant Program Function or 
Activity 

CFDA 
Number 

Estimated 
Unobligated Funds New or Revised Budget 

Federal Non-
Federal Federal Non-

Federal 

Total 
will auto-

calculate in 
EHBs 

Community Health Centers 93.224 N/A N/A 

Health Care for the Homeless 93.224 N/A N/A 

Migrant Health Centers 93.224 N/A N/A 

Public Housing Primary Care 93.224 N/A N/A 

Total  will auto-calculate in EHBs 

Section B – Budget Categories 

Object Class Categories Federal Non-Federal 
Total 

will auto-calculate 
in EHBs 

Personnel 

Fringe Benefits 

Travel 

Equipment 

Supplies 

Contractual 

Construction 

Other 

Total Direct Charges  
will auto-calculate in EHBs 

Indirect Charges 

Total  will auto-calculate in EHBs 

$1,749,663650,000

$5,662

$2,000

$25,000

$25,662

$442,744

$134,594

$796,780
$242,221

$650,000 $1,099,663 $1,749,663

$1,099,663

$1,239,524

$376,815

$2,000

$15,662

$25,662

$25,000

$65,000

$585,000

$10,000

$65,000

$1,684,663$1,099,663

Page 51 of 179



Page 2 of 4 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES 
Health Resources and Services Administration  

FORM SF-424A: BUDGET INFORMATION 

FOR HRSA USE ONLY 

Grant Number Application 
Tracking Number 

Section C – Non-Federal Resources 

Grant Program 
Function or Activity Applicant State Local Other Program 

Income 

Total 
will auto-

calculate in 
EHBs 

Community Health 
Centers  

Health Care for the 
Homeless  

Migrant Health Centers 

Public Housing Primary 
Care 

Total  will auto-calculate in 
EHBs 

Section D – Forecasted Cash Needs (optional) 

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter 
Total 1st Year 

will auto-calculate 
in EHBs 

Federal 

Non-Federal 

Total  will auto-
calculate in EHBs 

Section E – Budget Estimates of Federal Funds Needed for Balance of Project 

Grant Program 
Future Funding Periods (Years) 

First Second Third Fourth 

Community Health Centers N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Health Care for the Homeless N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Migrant Health Centers N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Public Housing Primary Care N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Total  will auto-calculate in EHBs N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Section F – Other Budget Information 

Direct Charges 

Indirect Charges 

Remarks 
$65,000

$585,000

Indirect charges reflect 10% de minimis rate

$299,663 $1,099,663

$1,099,663

$800,000

Page 52 of 179



Page 3 of 4 

Public Burden Statement: An agency may not conduct or sponsor, and a person is not required to respond to, a collection of information 
unless it displays a currently valid OMB control number. The OMB control number for this project is 4040-0006. Public reporting burden 
for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching 
existing data sources, and completing and reviewing the collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or 
any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden, to HRSA Reports Clearance Officer, 
5600 Fishers Lane, Room 14N136B, Rockville, Maryland, 20857 or paperwork@hrsa.gov. 

Instructions 

• Section A – Budget Summary: Under New or Revised Budget, in the Federal column, enter
the NAP federal funding requested (up to $650,000).

◦ You can request funding for one or more population type (CHC, MHC, HCH, PHPC).
Enter each on a separate row.

◦ Only enter your NAP federal funding request in the Federal column, not all federal
funding that you receive.

◦ Enter other support for the NAP project in the Non-Federal column.

◦ Leave the Estimated Unobligated Funds columns blank.

• Section B – Budget Categories: Enter an object class category (line item) budget, broken
out by federal and non-federal funding. The amounts listed in each box and the totals should
align with the Budget Narrative.

◦ Your federal request may include up to $250,000 for equipment and/or minor
alteration/renovation (A/R). Equipment costs go on the equipment line. Minor A/R
costs go on the construction line.

◦ See Appendix B in the NOFO for one-time funding information.

• Section C – Non-Federal Resources: List other funding that will support your NAP project.
The total must match the Non-Federal Total in Section A.

◦ Provide non-federal funding amounts for each population type you request NAP
federal funding for (CHC, MHC, HCH, PHPC) in Section A. Enter each on a separate
row.

◦ If you apply for HCH or PHPC funding, you must use this funding to supplement, and
not supplant, the expenditures of the health center and the value of in-kind
contributions for the delivery of services to these populations. This section should
reflect the funding you currently use for serving patients experiencing homelessness
and/or public housing residents.

◦ Include any other federal funds that will support the NAP project in the Other column.

◦ Program Income should match the Total Program Income (patient service revenue)
presented on Form 3: Income Analysis.

• Section D – Forecasted Cash Needs: Leave this section blank or enter the estimated
funding you will spend each quarter.

Page 53 of 179

mailto:paperwork@hrsa.gov


Page 4 of 4 

• Section E – Budget Estimates of Federal Funds Needed for Balance of Project: Leave this
section blank.

• Section F – Other Budget Information: Explain amounts for object class categories that may
appear to be out of the ordinary in Direct Charges. Enter the type of indirect rate
(provisional, predetermined, final, fixed, or de minimis) that will be in effect during the period
of performance in Indirect Charges.

If you’ve never received a negotiated indirect cost rate, you may charge a de minimis rate of 10 
percent of modified total direct costs. You may use this for the life of the award. If you choose this 
method, you must use it for all federal awards until you choose to negotiate a rate. See the Indirect 
Cost Negotiations website to learn more about rate agreements. 

See Section 5.1.iv Budget in HRSA’s SF-424 Two-Tier Application Guide (PDF) for information 
about salary limitation and funding restrictions.  

Page 54 of 179

https://www.hhs.gov/about/agencies/asa/psc/indirect-cost-negotiations/index.html
https://www.hhs.gov/about/agencies/asa/psc/indirect-cost-negotiations/index.html
https://www.hrsa.gov/sites/default/files/hrsa/grants/sf-424-app-guide-2-tier.pdf




Page 55 of 179



Page 56 of 179



Page 57 of 179



Page 58 of 179



Page 59 of 179



Page 60 of 179



Page 61 of 179



Page 62 of 179



Page 63 of 179



Page 64 of 179





Page 65 of 179



Page 66 of 179



Page 67 of 179



Page 68 of 179



Page 69 of 179



Page 70 of 179



Page 71 of 179



Page 72 of 179



Page 73 of 179



Page 74 of 179



Page 75 of 179



Page 76 of 179



Page 77 of 179



Page 78 of 179



Page 79 of 179



Page 80 of 179



Page 81 of 179



Page 82 of 179



Page 83 of 179



Page 84 of 179



Page 85 of 179



Page 86 of 179



Page 87 of 179



Page 88 of 179



Page 89 of 179



Page 90 of 179



Page 91 of 179



Page 92 of 179



Page 93 of 179



Page 94 of 179



Page 95 of 179



Page 96 of 179



Page 97 of 179



Page 98 of 179



Page 99 of 179



Page 100 of 179



Page 101 of 179





Page 102 of 179





Status Pending PolicyStat ID 15480307 

Origination N/A 

Last 
Approved 

N/A 

Effective Upon 
Approval 

Last Revised N/A 

Next Review 1 year after 
approval 

Owner Danny Hernandez 

Area Medical Services 

Document 
Type 

Agency 
Procedure 

IDD Medication Storage, Maintenance and Disposal 

1. PURPOSE: 
To outline the process which will be followed for storage, maintenance and disposal of medications in 
the IDD residential and community settings. 

2. APPLICABILITY/SCOPE: 
All The Harris Center employees, staff, contractors, volunteers, and interns involved in the preparation, 
storage, and administration of medications. 

3. REGULATORY/REFERENCE DOCUMENTS: 
CARF 

Storage of Drugs, 22 Tex. Admin. Code, Part 15, Subchapter A, Rule 291.15 

4. DEFINITIONS: 
Medication control is identified as the process of physically controlling, storing, transporting, and 
disposing of medications, including those self-administered by the person served. 

5. PROCEDURES: 
Medication Storage 

A. All medications shall be properly labeled (individual’s name, name of medication, dosage, and 
instructions for use, etc.) 

IDD Medication Storage, Maintenance and Disposal. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/

policy/15480307/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 1 of 4

Page 103 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=7223182
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=7223182
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=87440
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=87440
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?reference=103694
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?reference=103694


B. Medications shall be store under lock and key, controlled medication are to be double locked. 

C. Medications shall be stored separately for each individual. 

D. Oral and topical medications shall be stored separately. 

E. Storage areas shall be kept clean, well lit, and clutter free. 

F. Medications requiring special conditions for storage (refrigeration) shall be store in a separate 
compartment or refrigerator capable of maintaining the conditions indicated in the directions. 
Medications shall not be stored in refrigerators where blood, urine or food are kept. 

Medication Transport 

A. Medications received from the pharmacy will be verified with current physician orders by the 
program nurse. 

B. After medication are verified to be correct the nurse will send medications to the home with 
direct care staff when picking up individuals from the day program or nurse will deliver to the 
home. 

C. Medications are to be taken straight to the home, and will not at any time be left alone in 
vehicle. 

D. Medications taken on field trips will be kept in a cooler in a secure location. 

Medication Maintenance 

A. Count sheets will be kept for all routine and controlled medications. 

B. Medication count will be completed at the beginning of each shift. Any discrepancies in the 
count are to be reported to the nurse immediately. 

C. Staff are to request refills of medications when a 7 day supply is remaining (3 in CRU). If refill 
is not received within 4 days notify the nurse. 

D. All ordered PRN medications shall be available. 

E. Nurse will make medication monitoring visits once a monthbi-weekly to review medication 
supply, medication expiration, and medication administration and documentation. 

F. Nurse will reconcile medication, MAR, and orders when received from the pharmacy and 
deliver to the homes. 

OffisiteOff isite Medication Use 

A. Home Visits: 

1. When individuals go on home visits enough medications will be sent with the 
individual to cover all scheduled medication times. 

2. Staff will complete the medication count on the “Residential Service-Therapeutic 
Pass” prior to the individual leaving the facility and again when they return. Any 
discrepancies shall be reported to the nurse. 

B. Emergency Evacuation: 

1. In the event of an evacuation all medication bins will be taken along with the 
medication administration records (MAR), medication count sheets, client info sheet, 

IDD Medication Storage, Maintenance and Disposal. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/

policy/15480307/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 2 of 4

Page 104 of 179



Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

Management of Board 
Approval 

Christopher Webb: Audit Pending 

CEO Approval Wayne Young: Exec 08/2024 

2nd Legal Review Kendra Thomas: Counsel 07/2024 

CMO Review Luming Li: Chief Medical Ofcr 
(1101 1817) 

06/2024 

Legal 1st Review Obiajulu Enaohwo 06/2024 

and insurance information. 

2. Medication will be securely stored at the location site. 

C. Field Trips 

1. When medications are scheduled during a field trip staff will call nurse to determine 
if the medication can be given prior to departure or after arrival from the trip. 

2. If medication must be given during the trip staff will take medication to be given, 
MAR and count sheet. 

Medication Disposal 

A. Expired and discontinued medications (including controlled) shall be removed from the 
medication bin and placed in a bag to return to the nurse along with the count sheets. 

B. Nurse shall verify medications for disposal and place in the approved medication disposal 
container to send to the pharmacy. 

C. Once container is full nurse will notify the pharmacy for pickup of medications. 

6. RELATED POLICIES/FORMS: (Procedure must list the 

Agency Related Policy) 

7. RELATED POLICIES/FORMS: MED.PHA.A.2 - Medication Storage, 

Preparation, and Administration Areas 

Medication Count Sheet 

Residential Service-Therapeutic Pass 

IDD Medication Storage, Maintenance and Disposal. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/

policy/15480307/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 3 of 4

Page 105 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/13660263/latest
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/13660263/latest


Department Review I Kia Walker: Chief Nursing 
Officer 

06/2024 

Initial Danny Hernandez 06/2024 

IDD Medication Storage, Maintenance and Disposal. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/

policy/15480307/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 4 of 4

Page 106 of 179



EXHIBIT F-11 



Status Pending PolicyStat ID 15691043 

Origination N/A 

Last 
Approved 

N/A 

Effective Upon 
Approval 

Last Revised N/A 

Next Review 1 year after 
approval 

Owner Tanya White: Mgr 

Area Medical Services 

Document 
Type 

Agency Policy 

Pharmacy Staff Training Policy 

1. PURPOSE: 
The purpose of this policy is to define the process for supervision and delegation of training of Harris 
Center Pharmacy Staff. 

2. POLICY: 
The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD (Harris Center) employs Pharmacists, Pharmacy Interns, 
Pharmacy Students, Pharmacy Technicians, Pharmacy Technicians in Training and Pharmacy Clerks 
Registered by the Texas State Board of Pharmacy. They work under the delegated authority of a 
Pharmacist in Charge licensed by the Texas State Board of Pharmacy (TSBP). The Harris Center will 
comply with all rules and regulations that govern this arrangement including those set forth by the Texas 
State Board of Pharmacy (TSBP) as applicable. 

3. APPLICABILITY/SCOPE: 
All Harris Center Pharmacies 

4. RELATED POLICIES/FORMS (for reference 
only): 
Pharmacy Training Checklist 

Job Description 

Pharmacy Operations and Prescription Processing Policy 

Pharmacy Staff Training Policy. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/15691043/.

Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 1 of 2

Page 107 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=5637438
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=5637438
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=87440
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=87440
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?reference=95470


Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

Management of Board 
Approval 

Christopher Webb: Audit Pending 

CEO/Board Approval Wayne Young: Exec 08/2024 

Legal 2nd Review Kendra Thomas: Counsel 07/2024 

Pharmacy &Therapeutic 
Committee 

Angela Babin: Dir 07/2024 

Pharmacy Department Review Tanya White: Mgr 06/2024 

Legal 1st Review Obiajulu Enaohwo 06/2024 

CMO Review Luming Li: Chief Medical Ofcr 
(1101 1817) 

06/2024 

Initial Tanya White: Mgr 05/2024 

Employee Handbook 

5. PROCEDURE: 
Pharmacy Technician Use and Supervision ProcedurePharmacy Technician Use and Supervision 
Procedure 

Pharmacy Staffing ProcedurePharmacy Staffing Procedure 

Pharmacy Technician Training Program Procedure 

Pharmacy APPE Student/Intern ProcedurePharmacy APPE Student/Intern Procedure 

Pharmacist Training Checklist 

6. REFERENCES: RULES/REGULATIONS/
STANDARDS: 
Texas State Board of Pharmacy: 

Pharmacy Technicians and Pharmacy Technician Trainees, 22 Texas Administrative Code, Rule §297.1 – 
297.7 

Pharmacy Staff Training Policy. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/15691043/.

Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 2 of 2

Page 108 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/14967250/latest
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/14967250/latest
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/12595461/latest
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/15658894/approve


EXHIBIT F-12 



Status Pending PolicyStat ID 16005195 

Origination N/A 

Last 
Approved 

N/A 

Effective Upon 
Approval 

Last Revised N/A 

Next Review 1 year after 
approval 

Owner Tanya White: Mgr 

Area Medical Services 

Document 
Type 

Agency Policy 

Prescription Monitoring Program (PMP) Policy 

1. PURPOSE: 
The purpose of this policy is to ensure that all applicable employees at The Harris Center for Mental 
Health and IDD (The Harris Center) evaluate the appropriate dispensing of controlled substances to 
consumers and report Texas Prescription Monitoring Program (Texas PMP) data. 

2. POLICY: 
Its it the Policy of the Harris Center to value the safety of all patients therefore before. Before prescribing 
certain medications, all applicable staff will check the Texas Prescription Monitoring Program (PMP), a 
statewide database that tracks prescription data of controlled substances and medications with misuse 
potential. These medications include opioids, benzodiazepines, barbiturates, stimulants, sedatives, and 
muscle relaxers. 

3. APPLICABILITY/SCOPE: 
All individuals employed by the Harris Center with Prescribing Authority including interns, externs, 
residents and all pharmacy staff. 

4. RELATED POLICIES/FORMS (for reference 
only): 
MED.PHA.A.5 Pharmacy Services and Outpatient Prescription Purchase Plan 

MED.PHA.A.5The Harris Center Professional Review Committee Policy 

Prescription Monitoring Program (PMP) Policy. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/

policy/16005195/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 1 of 2

Page 109 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=5637438
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=5637438
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=87440
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=87440
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?reference=95470
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/12714275/latest
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/13574524/latest


Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

Management of Board 
Approval 

Christopher Webb: Audit Pending 

CEO/Board Approval Wayne Young: Exec 09/2024 

Legal 2nd Review Kendra Thomas: Counsel 08/2024 

Pharmacy &Therapeutic 
Committee 

Angela Babin: Dir 07/2024 

Pharmacy Department Review Tanya White: Mgr 07/2024 

Legal 1st Review Obiajulu Enaohwo 07/2024 

CMO Review Luming Li: Chief Medical Ofcr 
(1101 1817) 

07/2024 

Initial Tanya White: Mgr 06/2024 

MED.PHA.A.6 The Harris Center Pharmacy Peer Review Policy 

How to Register for TX PMP AWARE.docx 

5. PROCEDURE: 
Pharmacy Texas PMP (Prescription Monitoring Program) Review Procedure 

6. REFERENCES: RULES/REGULATIONS/
STANDARDS: 
About - Texas Prescription Monitoring Program (txpmp.org) 

Texas State Board of Pharmacy Rules and Regulations DEA Pharmacist Manual, Section IX 

Prescriptions, Texas Health & Safety Code §481.074 

Schedule II Prescriptions, Texas Health & Safety Code §481.075 

The Controlled Substances Act, DEA United States Drug Enforcement Administration. 
https://www.dea.gov/drug-information/csa 

Persons Entitled to Fill Prescriptions, 21 CFR §1306.04 (a) 

Prescription Monitoring Program (PMP) Policy. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/

policy/16005195/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 2 of 2

Page 110 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/12680522/latest
https://theharriscenter.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/Harrisphere_Pharmacy/OrgDocs/Training%20Tools/How%20to%20Register%20for%20TX%20PMP%20AWARE.docx?d=w118d1912f75841609ab69f7ba5d38004&csf=1&web=1&e=qm3xbG
https://txpmp.org/about
https://www.dea.gov/drug-information/csa


EXHIBIT F-13 



Status Pending PolicyStat ID 16214799 

Origination 09/2023 

Last 
Approved 

N/A 

Effective Upon 
Approval 

Last Revised 09/2023 

Next Review 1 year after 
approval 

Owner Maheshkumar 
Patel 

Area Medical Services 

Document 
Type 

Agency Policy 

MED.MH.A.1 Behavioral Crisis Safety and Intervention 

1. PURPOSE: 
To ensure the safety of consumers and employees to the fullest extent possible by providing timely, 
prudent and the least restrictive action when a person poses a threat of harm to self or others. 

2. POLICY: 
It is the policy of The Harris Center to protect the health, safety, and well-being of its consumers and 
employees by taking timely, prudent and the least restrictive action to prevent, assess the risk of, 
intervene in and respond to threats of harm to self (suicide), others (violence) and or behavioral health 
crisis. 

3. APPLICABILITY/SCOPE: 
All Harris Center programs and locations. 

4. RELATED POLICIES/FORMS (for reference 
only): 

• The Harris Center’s Policy and Procedure Handbook (hyperlink) 

• Event Report (RLS) 

• The Harris Center Suicide Prevention CARE PATHWAY (include hyperlink here) 

• HPD CIRCULAR (review if it needs to be in a procedure) (include hyperlink here) 

MED.MH.A.1 Behavioral Crisis Safety and Intervention. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at

http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/16214799/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 1 of 2

Page 111 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=9249657
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=9249657
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=87440
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=87440
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?reference=95470


Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

Management of Board 
Approval 

Christopher Webb: Audit Pending 

CEO Wayne Young: Exec 09/2024 

Legal 2nd Review Kendra Thomas: Counsel 08/2024 

Legal 1st Review Obiajulu Enaohwo 08/2024 

Department Review I Luming Li: Chief Medical Ofcr 
(1101 1817) [MP] 

08/2024 

Initial Maheshkumar Patel 08/2024 

5. PROCEDURES: 
N/A 

6.  REFERENCES: RULES/REGULATIONS/
STANDARDS: 

• TAC Title 37 Part 11 Chapter 380 Subchapter C. Division 4. Health Care Services.  Rule 
380.9187.  Suicide Alert Definitions 

• American Association of Suicidology.  https://suicidology.org/resources/warning-signs/ 

• Mental Health Community Services Standards. General Provisions. Texas Administrative Code. 
Title 26 Part 1. Chapter 301.  Subchapter G. Division 1.  Rule 301.303.  Definitions. 

• Texas Mental Health Code Chapter 571. General Provisions: Sec 571.002 

• Provider Clinical Responsibilities Mental Health Services, 25 Tex. Admin. Code, Part 1, Chapter 
415 

• Prescribing of Psychoactive Medications, 25 Tex. Admin. Code, Part 1, Chapter 415, 
Subchapter A 

• Interventions in Mental Health Services, 25 Tex. Admin. Code, Part 1, Chapter 415, Subchapter 
F 

• Determination of Manifest Dangerousness, 25 Tex. Admin. Code, Part 1, Chapter 415, 
Subchapter G 

• Emergency Detention, Health and Safety Code, Title 7 Mental Health and Intellectual Disability, 
Subtitle C Texas Mental Health Code, Chapter 573 

 

MED.MH.A.1 Behavioral Crisis Safety and Intervention. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at

http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/16214799/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 2 of 2

Page 112 of 179

https://suicidology.org/resources/warning-signs/
https://suicidology.org/resources/warning-signs/


EXHIBIT F-14 



Status Pending PolicyStat ID 16214795 

Origination 09/2021 

Last 
Approved 

N/A 

Effective Upon 
Approval 

Last Revised 09/2023 

Next Review 1 year after 
approval 

Owner Wayne Young: 
Exec 

Area Leadership 

Document 
Type 

Agency Policy 

LD.A.13 - Code of Ethics Policy 

1. PURPOSE: 
The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD ("The Center") requires its directors, officers, employees and 
contractors to observe high standards of business and personal ethics in the conduct of their duties and 
responsibilities. As employees and representatives of The Center, we must practice honesty and integrity 
in fulfilling our responsibilities and comply with all applicable laws and regulations. 

All Harris Center Board of Trustees, employees, interns, volunteers and contractors. 

2. POLICY: 
The purpose of the Code of Ethics policy (the "Policy") is to increase awareness of potential conflicts of 
interest and to ensure that all Board of Trustees and personnel always demonstrate and adhere to the 
highest standards of ethical and professional conduct. The Policy is to ensure that the actions of all 
personnel reflect a competent, respectful, and professional approach when serving consumers, their 
families and/or representative, working with other providers, and interacting in the community we serve. 

A. Conflicts of Interest 

Trustee: 
No trustee shall participate in a vote or decision on a matter involving a business entity or 
contract in which the Trustee or any related person in the first degree by consanguinity or 
affinity has a substantial interest or take any steps, directly or indirectly, to influence or 
persuade other Trustees or any employee in connection with such matter, if it is reasonably 
foreseeable that an action on the matter would confer an economic benefit on the business 
entity. A person has a substantial interest in a business entity if: 

LD.A.13 - Code of Ethics Policy. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/16214795/.

Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 1 of 7

Page 113 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=4197278
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=4197278
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=81303
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?reference=95470


a. The person owns 10 percent or more of the voting stock or shares of the business 
entity or owns either 10 percent or more or $15,000 or more of the fair market value 
of the business entity; or 

b. Funds received by the person from the business entity exceeds 10% of the person's 
gross income for the previous year. 

A person has a substantial interest in real property if the interest is an equitable or legal 
ownership with a fair market value of $2,500 or more. 

If a Trustee or any related person has a substantial interest in a business entity or in real 
property, the Trustee, before a vote or decision on any matter involving the business entity or 
the real property, where it is reasonably foreseeable that any action on the matter will have a 
special economic effect on the business entity or on the value of the property distinguishable 
from its effect on the public, shall file an affidavit stating the nature and extent of the interest 
and shall abstain from further participation in the matter. Such affidavit shall be filed with the 
secretary of the Board of Trustees and shall be maintained in the records of the Center. 

A Trustee shall not hold another office or position where one office is accountable or 
subordinate to the other, or where there is an overlap of powers and duties such that the 
Trustee could not independently serve in both positions. 

Employee: 
Except in the circumstances and on the conditions provided below, no employee shall 
participate in any decision or take any action in his or her capacity as an employee of the 
Center on a matter involving a business entity or real property in which the employee or any 
related person has an interest where it is reasonably foreseeable that a decision or action on 
the matter would confer an economic benefit on the business entity, the employee or related 
person. 

Any employee engaged in providing clinical/rehabilitative services and/or support outside of 
Center employment must obtain prior written approval from their department head, 
appropriate Vice President and the Chief Executive Officer Providing such services and/or 
support may be allowed if it does not interfere with or violate the efficient operation of The 
HARRIS CENTER or Board of Trustees approved Code of Ethics. Employees may not use 
Agency facilities or Agency property to assist them in providing such outside services and/or 
support; nor can employees use the Center's resources, personnel, facilities, or equipment for 
purposes other than for Center business. 

Trustee and/or Employee: 
No Trustee, nor any employee, shall accept any employment, office, or other position which 
might be expected to impair the independence or the judgment of such person in the 
performance of his or her duties with the Center. 

Examples of Conflict of Interest: 

1. Being employed (you or a close family member) by, or acting as a consultant to, a 
competitor or potential competitor, supplier or contractor, regardless of the nature of 

LD.A.13 - Code of Ethics Policy. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/16214795/.

Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 2 of 7

Page 114 of 179



the employment, while you are employed with The Harris Center. 

2. Hiring or supervising family members or closely related persons. 

3. Owning or having a substantial interest in a supplier or contractor of The Harris 
Center. 

4. Having a personal interest, financial interest or potential gain in any Harris Center 
transaction. 

5. Placing company business with a firm owned or controlled by a Harris Center 
employee or his or her family. 

6. Accepting gifts, discounts, favors or services from a customer/potential customer, 
competitor or supplier, unless equally available to Harris Center employees. 

Determining whether a conflict of interest exists is not always easy to do. Employees with a 
conflict-of-interest question should seek advice from management. Before engaging in any 
activity, transaction or relationship that might give rise to a conflict of interest, employees 
must seek review from their managers or the HR department. 

B. Nepotism 

1. A Trustee or Chief Executive Officer may not hire as a paid officer or employee of the 
community center a person who is related to a member of the board of trustees by 
affinity within the second degree or by consanguinity within the third degree. 

2. An officer or employee who is related to a member of the board of trustees in a 
prohibited manner may continue to be employed if the person began the 

employment not later than the 31st day before the date on which the member was 
appointed. 

3. The officer or employee or the member of the board of trustees shall resign if the 

officer or employee began the employment later than the 31st day before the date on 
which the member was appointed. 

4. If an officer or employee is permitted to remain in employment under subsection (2), 
the related member of the Board of Trustees may not participate in the deliberation 
of or voting on an issue on an issue that is specifically applicable to the officer or 
employee unless the issue affects the entire class or category of employees. 

The term "relative" as used in this section means any person related to the Trustee or 
employee (not closer than Aunt, Uncle, or Cousin). 

C. Commencement of Service 
Upon appointment as a Trustee and upon the employment of any employee, each Trustee and 
each employee shall execute an acknowledgement that he or she has read this Code of Ethics, 
any and all changes, revisions, or additions as amended; agrees to abide by its terms and 
conditions; and represents to the Center that, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, he 
or she is not aware of any prior or existing violations of such Code of Ethics. 

D. Exchange of Gifts, Money and Gratuities 
The Harris Center is committed to competing solely on the merit of our services. We should 

LD.A.13 - Code of Ethics Policy. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/16214795/.

Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 3 of 7

Page 115 of 179



avoid any actions that create a perception that favorable treatment of outside entities by The 
Harris Center was sought, received, or given in exchange for personal business courtesies. 

Business courtesies include gifts, gratuities, meals, refreshments, entertainment or other 
benefits from persons or companies with whom The Harris Center does or may do business. 
We will neither give nor accept business courtesies that constitute, or could reasonably be 
perceived as constituting, unfair business inducements that would violate law regulation or 
policies of The Harris Center or customers or would cause embarrassment or reflect 
negatively on The Harris Center's reputation. 

Employees should always ask themselves whether it is appropriate to accept something from 
a person who wants, or may want, or may be seen to want, an official favor within their 
authority. It is unethical to accept or give a gift that is meant to sway a decision in favor of the 
gift-giver. 

No Trustee or employee shall ask for, accept or agree to accept money, loans or anything of 
value as consideration for a decision or other exercise of discretion by a Trustee or employee. 

A Trustee or employee shall reject any benefit for his or her past official actions in favor of 
another person. 

No Trustee or employee shall exercise his or her official position without authority, fail to 
perform a required duty, or take or use any property of the Agency with the intent to obtain a 
personal benefit. 

A Trustee or employee shall not misuse information that he or she receives, in advance other 
public entities, because of the Trustee's or employee's official capacity. A Trustee or employee 
shall not engage in any business activity that might lead to the disclosure of confidential 
information of the Agency or any of its consumers. 

A Trustee or employee shall reject any job, favor, or other benefit that might tend, or is 
intended, to impair or influence his or her official conduct or independence. 

Trustees and employees owe a duty of loyalty to the Agency and may not engage in any action 
on their own personal behalf, or that of another, which conflicts with the interests of the 
Agency. 

No Trustee or employee shall engage in any related business activity or use a previous position 
of the Trustee or employee to gain any personal benefit for a period of one year following his 
or her separation as a Trustee or employee of the Agency. 

No employee shall receive or accept compensation from any source other than the Agency, for 
the same services to the same consumer for which they receive compensation from the 
Agency. 

E. Personal Fundraising 
It is the policy of The Harris Center to minimize disruptions in the workplace cause by the 
unauthorized sale of items, solicitations of contributions, or the distribution of advertising 

LD.A.13 - Code of Ethics Policy. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/16214795/.

Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 4 of 7

Page 116 of 179



materials. Furthermore, it is counterproductive for employees to feel pressured to contribute 
financially to any enterprise whether it is a for-profit or non-profit. 

1. Fundraising and/or solicitation by or of employees during work hours and/or on 
Harris Center property without authorization from their immediate supervisor or 
designee is strictly prohibited. 

2. Solicitation means any verbal or written communication which encourages, 
demands, or requests a contribution of money, time, effort or personal involvement 
for any enterprise. This includes, but is not limited to, charitable or personal profit 
activities such as, selling products of any kinds, raffle tickets, admissions to events 
and donations to assist persons experiencing a personal crisis. 

3. Employees who wish to solicit on behalf of their children's schools, scouting 
programs, or other not-for-profit purposes, including for the benefit of a person or co-
worker involved in a personal tragedy, must submit a written request to their 
immediate supervisor. 

4. Employees may not initiate any fundraising and/or solicitation activities until written 
authorization has been obtained from their immediate supervisor. 

5. The Harris Center's interoffice and email systems may not be used to communicate 
information about non-Harris Center sponsored fundraising activities. 

F. Service Delivery 

1. The Harris Center will provide quality behavioral health care in a manner that is, 
determined to be medically necessary, effective and the least restrictive treatment 
alternative. 

2. Ensure that consumer information is kept confidential according to applicable 
federal, state, and local laws. 

3. All Harris Center employees, contractors, volunteers, and interns shall follow current 
ethical standards regarding communication with consumers (and their 
representatives) regarding services provided. 

4. The Harris Center will inform consumers about alternatives and risks associated 
with the care they are seeking and obtain informed consent prior to any clinical 
interventions. 

5. The Harris Center recognizes the right of consumers to make choices about their 
own treatment, including the right to refuse treatment. 

G. Setting boundaries 
While the nature of the job responsibilities of the Center staff members requires that they 
interact closely with consumers, it should be emphasized that these relationships must be 
kept on a professional level. It is the responsibility of the Center staff member to ensure that a 
supportive, yet professional relationship is maintained, and is perceived as such by all 
involved. 

No Trustee or employee of the Agency shall file for managing conservatorship or guardianship, 
petition to terminate parent/child relationships, or file for adoption of any child who is a 
consumer or whose family is a consumer of The HARRIS CENTER. 

LD.A.13 - Code of Ethics Policy. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/16214795/.

Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 5 of 7

Page 117 of 179



All current and former Trustees, employees, Consultants, and Volunteers of The HARRIS 
CENTER will hold all information pertaining to The HARRIS CENTER, its consumers, and its 
employees in confidence, and shall not engage in any activity that might lead to the disclosure 
of confidential information of the Center or its consumers, except as may be required by law. 

All Harris Center Employees, contractors, interns, and volunteers shall adhere to the following 
guidelines: 

1. Place the needs of their consumers on their caseload at the center of any treatment-
related decisions that you make about them and their lives. 

2. Shall not disclose personal or financial information with consumers. 

3. Understand the limitations of their role and personal capabilities, and when to refer 
to other professionals or to seek further support and advice. 

4. Refrain from connecting with their consumers on social media. 

5. Maintain a courteous and respectful attitude with all consumers equally. 

6. Do no give or accept gifts, loans, money, or other valuables to or from the consumer. 

7. Always clarify your professional role with the consumer. 

H. Witnessing of legal documents 

1. Harris Center employees shall not agree to be a witness or sign as a witness on any 
legal documents (e.g., Declaration for Mental Health Treatment, durable power of 
attorneys, medical power of attorney, wills) a consumer presents. 

2. Employees shall inform the consumer they will need to obtain their witnesses not 
employed or contracted by the Harris Center for legal documents. 

3. Employees who are notary publics and obtained their commission for Harris Center 
business shall only notarize documents related to The Harris Center business. 

3. APPLICABILITY/SCOPE: 
All Harris Center Board of Trustees, employees, interns, volunteers and contractors. 

4. RELATED POLICIES/FORMS (for reference 
only): 
Agency Compliance Plan 

5. REFERENCES: RULES/REGULATIONS/
STANDARDS: 

• Community Centers, Tex. Health & Safety Code Ch. 534 

• Regulation of Conflicts of Interest of Officers of Municipalities, Counties and Certain Other 
Local Governments, Tex. Local Government Code Chapter 171 

LD.A.13 - Code of Ethics Policy. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/16214795/.

Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 6 of 7

Page 118 of 179



Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

Management of Board 
Approval 

Christopher Webb: Audit Pending 

CEO Approval Wayne Young: Exec 08/2024 

Legal Review Kendra Thomas: Counsel 08/2024 

Initial Assignment Wayne Young: Exec 08/2024 

LD.A.13 - Code of Ethics Policy. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/16214795/.

Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 7 of 7

Page 119 of 179



EXHIBIT F-15 



Status Pending PolicyStat ID 16352063 

Origination 06/2006 

Last 
Approved 

N/A 

Effective Upon 
Approval 

Last Revised 10/2023 

Next Review 1 year after 
approval 

Owner Keena Pace: Exec 

Area Assessment, 
Care & Continuity 

Document 
Type 

Agency Policy 

ACC.A.14 Declaration of Mental Health Treatment 

1. PURPOSE: 
The purpose of this policy is to ensure that The Harris Center staff are informed, trained, and 
demonstrate competence accordingly with regards to Declarations of Mental Health Treatment. All 
Harris Center patients have the right to execute a Declaration of Mental Health Treatment. 

2. POLICY: 
It is the policy of The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD {The Harris Center) to offer persons served 
an opportunity to make a Declaration for Mental Health Treatment. This opportunity is offered to each 
person upon entry into THE HARRIS CENTER services and when services are sought through the 
Psychiatric Emergency Services programs, including the Crisis Stabilization Unit of The Harris Center. All 
Harris Center staff have a duty to act in accordance with Declarations for Mental Health Treatment to the 
fullest extent possible. 

3. APPLICABILITY/SCOPE: 
This policy applies to all Harris Center staff, employees, contractors, volunteers and the clients and 
family/legally authorized representatives accessing services with The Harris Center as applicable. 

4. PROCEDURES: 
ACC.B.14 Declaration of Mental Health Treatment 

ACC.A.14 Declaration of Mental Health Treatment. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/

policy/16352063/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 1 of 2

Page 120 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=4196621
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=4196621
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=81296
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=81296
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?reference=95470
http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/11321663/latest


Attachments 

A: Declaration for Mental Health Treatment 

Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

Management of Board 
Approval 

Christopher Webb: Audit Pending 

CEO Approval Wayne Young: Exec 09/2024 

Legal Review Kendra Thomas: Counsel 08/2024 

Departmental Review Keena Pace: Exec 08/2024 

Initial Assignment Keena Pace: Exec 08/2024 

5. RELATED POLICIES/FORMS: 
Assurance of Individual Rights RR3A 

6. REFERENCES: RULES/REGULATIONS/
STANDARDS: 
Texas Civil Practices and Remedies Code, Chapter 137-Declaration for Mental Health Treatment 
Interventions in Mental Health Services; Staff Member Training, Title 25 Texas Administrative Code 
§415.257 
CCBHC 2.C.3 Availability and Accessibility of Services 

ACC.A.14 Declaration of Mental Health Treatment. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/

policy/16352063/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 2 of 2

Page 121 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/11000898/latest/
https://pstat-live-media.s3.amazonaws.com/attachments/public/86e91ecdafc5f0a5e5ce06f8330d4a40d3c2f9c610471610ad9922ac/Declaration%2520of%2520Mental%2520Health%2520Treatment%2520POLICY%252010%25202021%2520SIGNED%20%28dragged%29.pdf


EXHIBIT F-16 



Status Pending PolicyStat ID 15738313 

Origination 03/2001 

Last 
Approved 

N/A 

Effective Upon 
Approval 

Last Revised 06/2023 

Next Review 1 year after 
approval 

Owner Toby Hicks 

Area Human 
Resources 

Document 
Type 

Agency Policy 

HR.A.7 Employee Referral Bonus Program 

1. PURPOSE: 
The purpose of The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD (The Harris Center) employee referral bonus 
program is to have an internal recruiting incentive to encourage employees to refer qualified candidates 
within their networks for jobs at The Harris Center in an effort to reduce voluntary turnover and retain 
talent. 

2. POLICY: 
In appreciation to staff for assisting The Harris Center for attracting and recruiting qualified persons into 
The Harris Center workforce, employees who refer persons who become employees of The Harris Center 
for the first time shall be provided an Employee Referral Bonus subject to the terms of this policy and 
related procedures. 

3. APPLICABILITY/SCOPE: 
All The Harris Center employees and staff. 

4. RELATED POLICIES/FORMS: 
• Employee Handbook 

• Employee Referral Bonus Program Form  

HR.A.7 Employee Referral Bonus Program. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/

15738313/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 1 of 2

Page 122 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=7537198
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=81301
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=81301
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?reference=95470


Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

Management of Board 
Approval 

Christopher Webb: Audit Pending 

CEO Approval Wayne Young: Exec 08/2024 

Legal Review Kendra Thomas: Counsel 08/2024 

Department Review Joseph Gorczyca 07/2024 

Initial Assignment Toby Hicks 07/2024 

• Employee Referral Bonus Eligible Position List  

5.  REFERENCES: RULES/REGULATIONS/
STANDARDS: 
 

HR.A.7 Employee Referral Bonus Program. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/

15738313/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 2 of 2

Page 123 of 179



EXHIBIT F-17 



Status Pending PolicyStat ID 16352062 

Origination 11/2022 

Last 
Approved 

N/A 

Effective Upon 
Approval 

Last Revised 10/2023 

Next Review 1 year after 
approval 

Owner Keena Pace: Exec 

Area Leadership 

Document 
Type 

Agency Policy 

LD.A.17 Harris Center Advisory Committee 

1. PURPOSE: 
The purpose of the Advisory Committee shall be to advise The Harris Center of Mental Health and 
IDD Board of Trustees and/or Executive staff on matters, including planning, policy development, 
coordination, including coordination with criminal justice entities, resource allocation, and resource 
development, relative to the provision of services and supports to residents of Harris County. 

2. POLICY: 
The BH & IDD Advisory Committee gathers information related to existing and/or needed 
services, identify problem areas regarding consumer services and supports and/or systematic 
issues, receives input from the community, and ensures the viewpoint(s) of the primary 
(consumer) and secondary (family member) stakeholders are communicated to the Board of 
Trustees and the Executive Director. 

3. APPLICABILITY/SCOPE: 
This policy applies to the Board of Trustees and executive staff of The Harris Center.  

4. PROCEDURES: 
Harris Center Advisory Committee 

5. RELATED POLICIES/FORMS: 
N/A 

LD.A.17 Harris Center Advisory Committee. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/

16352062/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 1 of 2

Page 124 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=4196621
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=4196621
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=81303
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?reference=95470
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/13923057/latest


Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

Management of Board 
Approval 

Christopher Webb: Audit Pending 

CEO Approval Wayne Young: Exec 09/2024 

Legal Review Kendra Thomas: Counsel 08/2024 

Initial Assignment Keena Pace: Exec 08/2024 

6. REFERENCES: RULES/REGULATIONS/
STANDARDS: 

CARF 1. A. Leadership 

Certified Community Behavioral Health Clinics (CCBHC).  Criteria 6.B: Governance. Standard 6.b.1. 

Advisory Committees, Tex. Health and Safety Code §534.012 

LD.A.17 Harris Center Advisory Committee. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/

16352062/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 2 of 2

Page 125 of 179



EXHIBIT F-18 



Status Pending PolicyStat ID 16020730 

Origination 08/2017 

Last 
Approved 

N/A 

Effective Upon 
Approval 

Last Revised 07/2023 

Next Review 1 year after 
approval 

Owner Danyalle Evans 

Area Medical Services 

Document 
Type 

Agency Policy 

MED.PHA.A.1 Pharmaceutical or Patient Assistance 
Programs (PAP) 

1. PURPOSE: 
The purpose of this policy is to establish best practices regarding any Patient or Pharmacy Assistance 
Program (PAP). 

2. POLICY: 
It is the policy of The Harris Center to ensure and support best practices for the management and 
governance of PAP and that the following policies are to be adhered to: 

• Adhere to applicable governing laws, regulations, rules, and manufacturer guidelines for PAP 
brand or generic medications, including but not limited to application for, ordering, receiving, 
transferring to the Pharmacy, dispensing to Financially Disadvantaged or Indigent patients and 
disposition of expired or unused pharmaceuticals. 

• PAP products are received at each pharmacy location or at a centralized location to reduce the 
chances of package loss and to streamline the package receipt process. Packages distributed 
to the central location shall be transferred to individual clinics for PAP management. 
Dispensing consistent with internal pharmacy procedures and in accordance with sponsored 
program recommendations will be done in all cases. Patient specific PAP oral medications 
may be shipped by sponsoring PAP programs to the patient's residence, unless deemed 
inappropriate by the prescriber and/or pharmacy team. 

• Annually Physicians and Pharmacists will receive a PAP Authorization and Pharmacy 
Acknowledgment form for review and signature for the applicable PAP program. The form 
reaffirms the professional's participation in PAP and notice of any applicable rules, regulations, 

MED.PHA.A.1 Pharmaceutical or Patient Assistance Programs (PAP). Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at

http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/16020730/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 1 of 3

Page 126 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=7649937
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=7649937
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=87440
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=87440
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?reference=95470


guidelines, or legal change(s). 

• All pharmaceuticals are to be disposed of in accordance with internal disposition procedures 
and/or per manufacturer request as confirmed and documented with individual manufacturer. 

• Information gathered or exchanged through PAP is considered protected health information 
and subject to the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) such that 
access is limited in accordance with 45 CFR Part 160 and Part 164. 

• PAP has no requirement of financial remuneration and there is never a charge for PAP 
medication brand or generic. 

3. APPLICABILITY/SCOPE: 
All Harris Center staff, employees, interns, volunteers, contractors, and programs. 

4. RELATED POLICIES/FORMS (for reference 
only): 

• Patient Attestation Form – The HARRIS CENTER 

• PAP Authorization to Disclose – Medicaid Eligibility Status Form 

• Texas HHS Form H1003 – Appointment of an Authorized Representative to Allow Another 
Person to Act for You 

• Authorization to Provide Navigator Support to Complete a Medicaid Application On-Line 

• PAP Notification of Pending Eligibility Status 

• Zero Income Letter 

• Zero Income Letter Modifiable for Special Circumstances 

• Distribution of PAP from SW to other Clinic Pharmacies 

• Transfer of Medications in or Out of a Pharmacy 

• Transfers of Medications in or Out of Pharmacy Form(s) 

• Monthly Unit Inspections 

• Monthly Unit Inspection Form 

• PAP Haldol Injection Protocol 

• Pharmacy Records Retention 

• PAP Disposition 

• PAP Disposition Documentation Log 

5. PROCEDURES: 
Pharmaceutical or Patient Assistance Programs (PAP) 

MED.PHA.A.1 Pharmaceutical or Patient Assistance Programs (PAP). Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at

http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/16020730/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 2 of 3

Page 127 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/13161477/latest


Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

Management of Board 
Approval 

Christopher Webb: Audit Pending 

CEO Approval Wayne Young: Exec 09/2024 

Final Legal Review Kendra Thomas: Counsel 08/2024 

Department Review Luming Li: Chief Medical Ofcr 
(1101 1817) 

06/2024 

Initial Assignment Danyalle Evans 06/2024 

6. REFERENCES: RULES/REGULATIONS/
STANDARDS: 

• Texas Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, Drug Donation Program, 6 Health and Safety Code, 
Chapter 431 

• Charitable Immunity & Liability, 4 Texas Civil Practice and Remedies Code, Chapter 84 

• Pharmacy and Pharmacists, 3 Texas Occ Code, Chapter 551-556, 559 

• Texas State Board of Pharmacy, 22 Tex. Admin. Code, Part 15, Ch 281-311 

• Donation of Unused Drugs, 25 Tex. Admin. Code, Chapter 229 

• CARF Section 2 

MED.PHA.A.1 Pharmaceutical or Patient Assistance Programs (PAP). Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at

http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/16020730/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 3 of 3

Page 128 of 179



EXHIBIT F-19 



Status Pending PolicyStat ID 15738302 

Origination 08/2000 

Last 
Approved 

N/A 

Effective Upon 
Approval 

Last Revised 06/2023 

Next Review 1 year after 
approval 

Owner Toby Hicks 

Area Human 
Resources 

Document 
Type 

Agency Policy 

HR.A.22 Shift Differential 

1. PURPOSE: 
The purpose of this policy is to provide guidance about shift differentials and to ensure consistent salary 
treatment for eligible employees. 

2. POLICY: 
As a mechanism to meet the prevailing wages, The Harris Center for Mental Health and Intellectual and 
Developmental Disability (The Harris Center) may pay a shift differential to employees assigned to 
regular duties an evening, night, and/or weekend shifts, or any other division of a regular day. 

The justification for approval of shift differential must be prepared by the Department Head, approved by 
the appropriate operational Vice President or Chief, and the Vice President of Human Resources, on a 
program-by-program basis. Additional approvals may be required. 

3. APPLICABILITY/SCOPE: 
This policy applies to all staff employed by The Harris Center. 

4. RELATED POLICIES/FORMS (for reference 
only): 
Shift Differential Time Sheet PER:20-001 

HR.A.22 Shift Differential. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/15738302/.

Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 1 of 2

Page 129 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=7537198
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=81301
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=81301
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?reference=95470


Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

Management of Board 
Approval 

Christopher Webb: Audit Pending 

CEO Approval Wayne Young: Exec 09/2024 

Legal Review Kendra Thomas: Counsel 08/2024 

Department Review Joseph Gorczyca 07/2024 

Initial Assignment Toby Hicks 07/2024 

5. PROCEDURES: 
Shift Differential 

6. REFERENCES: RULES/REGULATIONS/
STANDARDS: 

• The Harris Center's Employee Handbook 

HR.A.22 Shift Differential. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/15738302/.

Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 2 of 2

Page 130 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/12222662/latest


EXHIBIT F-20



Status Pending PolicyStat ID 14121259 

Origination 08/2013 

Last 
Approved 

N/A 

Effective Upon 
Approval 

Last Revised 09/2024 

Next Review 1 year after 
approval 

Owner Nina Cook: Dir 

Area Fiscal 
Management 

Document 
Type 

Agency Policy 

FM.A.5 - Purchasing Card 

1. PURPOSE: 
The purpose of the Purchasing Card (P-Card) Program is to provide the Harris Center with an efficient 
and controllable method of making small dollar commodity purchases not covered by a Harris Center 
Supply Contract. The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD's Purchasing Card (P-Card) Program 
facilitates the procurement of low dollar value items. The P-Card program eliminates most of the 
paperwork associated with Agency purchases. 

2. POLICY: 
Employees who are authorized to purchase goods and or services may request a P-Card; however, 
individual departments can impose more restrictive requirements and limits. P-Cards are assigned to 
individuals. The individual whose name appears on the card is ultimately responsible for charges to that 
card. P-Cards are to be used by the person to whom it is issued. Sharing Purchasing Cards is prohibited. 

Purchases made with the agency P-Card must only be for the use and benefit of The Harris Center. The 
card is to be used in place of petty cash, small dollar regular purchase orders, emergency purchase 
orders and whatever authorized Merchant Category Codes (MCC) are approved and setup for program/
department use. Purchases on the card are for approved Center purposes only. 

Small Dollar Purchases: 

A. Any transaction that does not exceed $3,000 per Transaction, the Cardholder's Monthly 
Transaction limit, purchases over authorized amount and/or whichever is lesser. (Special 
approval is required for exceptions). 

B. Over-the-counter type retail purchases normally made using a charge account or small dollar 

FM.A.5 - Purchasing Card. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/14121259/.

Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 1 of 3

Page 131 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=4195585
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=4195585
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=81300
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=81300
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?reference=95470


Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

Management of Board 
Approval 

Christopher Webb: Audit Pending 

purchases which includes purchases over the internet etc. (Ex: books, publications). 

C. Any other business related purchase as long as the vendor accepts credit cards, and the goods 
purchased are not covered under a Center Supply Contract. 

3. APPLICABILITY/SCOPE: 
This Policy applies to all staff approved to use the Payment Card (P-Card) Program Agency-wide. 

4. PROCEDURES: 
A. FM19B - Requisitioning and Purchasing of Goods and / or ServicesFM.B.7 - Requisitioning and 

Purchasing of Goods and / or Services 

B. FM12B - Purchasing Card (P-Card) Program ProceduresFM.B.5 - Purchasing Card (P-Card) 
Program Procedures 

C. FM20B - The Requisitioning and Purchasing of Goods and / or Services Dollar Limit Threshold 
& RequirementsFM.B.8 - The Requisitioning and Purchasing of Goods and / or Services Dollar 
Limit Threshold & Requirements 

5. RELATED POLICIES/FORMS (for reference 
only): 
Attachment A - TAX EXEMPTION CERTIFICATE 
Attachment B - PURCHASING CARD AGREEMENT 
Attachment C - ONLINE CUSTOMER SERVICES CONTACT & P-CARD ADMINISTRATOR CONTACT 
INFORMATION 
Attachment D - PURCHASING CARD APPLICATION/INSTRUCTIONS 

6. REFERENCES: RULES/REGULATIONS/
STANDARDS: 
State of Texas Commercial Charge Card Program Guidelines 

Use of Payment Cards by State Agencies, Title 34 Tex. Administrative Code Part 1, Chapter 5, §5.57 

The Harris Center approved Policy and Procedures 

FM.A.5 - Purchasing Card. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/14121259/.

Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 2 of 3

Page 132 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/14982540/latest
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/14982540/latest
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/11159768/latest/
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/11321668/latest
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/11321668/latest
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/11340752/latest
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/11340752/latest


CEO Approval Wayne Young: Exec 08/2024 

Legal Review Kendra Thomas: Counsel 08/2024 

Department Review Stanley Adams 08/2024 

Initial Assignment Nina Cook: Dir 08/2024 

FM.A.5 - Purchasing Card. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/14121259/.

Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 3 of 3

Page 133 of 179



EXHIBIT F-21



Status Pending PolicyStat ID 16020731 

Origination 05/1993 

Last 
Approved 

N/A 

Effective Upon 
Approval 

Last Revised 06/2024 

Next Review 1 year after 
approval 

Owner Tanya White: Mgr 

Area Medical Services 

Document 
Type 

Agency Policy 

MED.PHA.A.2 - Medication Storage, Preparation, and 
Administration Areas Policy 

1. PURPOSE: 
To establish a uniform policy for the storage, security, preparation, and administration areas for 
medications. 

2. POLICY: 
It is the policy of The Harris Center for a Pharmacist, or other appropriately trained individuals under the 
supervision of the Director of Pharmacy (DOP), to ensure that all medications maintained by the Agency 
are stored safely, securely, and properly following manufacturer/supplier recommendations (e.g. proper 
sanitation, temperature, light, moisture, ventilation, and segregation conditions) and state laws and rules. 
The Pharmacy Department will conduct regular inspections of all drug storage areas within the Harris 
Center Pharmacies and each service site responsible for the containment of drugs. 

3. APPLICABILITY/SCOPE: 
All Harris Center Mental Health and IDD service sites, clinics, treatment programs, residential care 
programs, and pharmacies. 

4. RELATED POLICIES/FORMS (for reference 
only): 
Medical Services                                                                                     

MED.PHA.A.2 - Medication Storage, Preparation, and Administration Areas Policy. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at

http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/16020731/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 1 of 2

Page 134 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=5637438
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=5637438
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=87440
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=87440
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?reference=95470
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/12784248/latest


Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

Management of Board 
Approval 

Christopher Webb: Audit Pending 

CEO/Board Approval Wayne Young: Exec 09/2024 

Legal 2nd Review Kendra Thomas: Counsel 08/2024 

Pharmacy &Therapeutic 
Committee 

Angela Babin: Dir 06/2024 

Pharmacy Department Review Tanya White: Mgr 06/2024 

Legal 1st Review Obiajulu Enaohwo 06/2024 

CMO Review Luming Li: Chief Medical Ofcr 
(1101 1817) 

06/2024 

Initial Tanya White: Mgr 06/2024 

Pharmacy and Unit Medication / Drug Inventory                             

Nursing Unit Inspection Form 

5. PROCEDURES: 
Medication Storage, Preparation and Administration Areas 

6. REFERENCES: RULES/REGULATIONS/
STANDARDS: 

• Pharmacy and Pharmacists, Title 3 Texas Occupations Code Subtitle J, Chapters 551 and 552. 

• All Classes of Pharmacies, Title 22 Texas Administrative Code Subchapter A,  Chapter 291.  

• Storage of Drugs,  Title 22 Texas Administrative Code Subchapter A,  Chapter 291.15 

• Prescribing of Psychoactive Medication, Title 25 Texas Administrative Code Chapter 
415,  Subchapter A. 

• Health, Safety and Rights,  Title 40 Texas Administrative Code  Rule 2.313(c) and (d) 

• National Institute of Standards and Technology Reports (NISTIR) 7656 and 7753 

• CARF.  Accreditation Standards. Section 2. E. Medication Use 

• CDC Storage and Handling Tool Kit 

MED.PHA.A.2 - Medication Storage, Preparation, and Administration Areas Policy. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at

http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/16020731/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 2 of 2

Page 135 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/11936828/latest
https://theharriscenter.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/Harrisphere_Pharmacy/_layouts/15/doc2.aspx?sourcedoc=%7BBE7BC0FB-55DB-4DDF-9840-CA7986A864AE%7D&file=Unit%20Inspection%20Form.docx&action=default&mobileredirect=true&DefaultItemOpen=1&CID=49DE2B04-9BD3-4F76-9D28-817B172912C8&wdLOR=cC55BEC5B-BDF6-443D-9583-5978EAD38C1C
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/13535590/latest


EXHIBIT F-22



Status Pending PolicyStat ID 15738317 

Origination 03/1995 

Last 
Approved 

N/A 

Effective Upon 
Approval 

Last Revised 07/2024 

Next Review 1 year after 
approval 

Owner Toby Hicks 

Area Human 
Resources 

Document 
Type 

Agency Policy 

HR.A.25 Transfers - Promotions - Demotions 

1. PURPOSE: 
The purpose of this policy is to develop, mobilize, and retain staff of the highest quality. The Harris 
Center provides equal opportunities for the recruitment, professional growth, and advancement of all 
employees while providing guidelines for employee promotion, transfer, and demotion. 

2. POLICY: 
Any transfer, promotion, or demotion will be based on documented evidence of the employee's job 
qualifications and performance. 

3. APPLICABILITY/SCOPE: 
This policy applies to all staff employed by The Harris Center for Mental Health and Intellectual and 
Developmental Disability {The Harris Center) including, both direct and contracted employees. 

4. RELATED POLICIES/FORMS (for reference 
only): 

• Personnel Action Form 

• Transfer Application 

HR.A.25 Transfers - Promotions - Demotions. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/

15738317/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 1 of 2

Page 136 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=7537198
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=81301
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=81301
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?reference=95470


Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

Management of Board 
Approval 

Christopher Webb: Audit Pending 

CEO Approval Wayne Young: Exec 09/2024 

Legal Review Kendra Thomas: Counsel 08/2024 

Department Review Joseph Gorczyca 07/2024 

Initial Assignment Toby Hicks 07/2024 

• Referral for Hire Form 

5. PROCEDURES: 
Transfers - Promotions - Demotions 

6. REFERENCES: RULES/REGULATIONS/
STANDARDS: 

• Employment 

• The Harris Center's Employee Handbook 

HR.A.25 Transfers - Promotions - Demotions. Retrieved 09/2024. Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/

15738317/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD
Page 2 of 2

Page 137 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/11326051/latest


EXHIBIT F-23







EXHIBIT F-24



The Harris Center System Quality, Safety and Experience Performance Improvement Plan FY 2024. Retrieved 07/2024. Page 1 of 8
Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/14358146/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health 
and IDD

Status Pending PolicyStat ID 14358146 

Origination N/A Owner Luc Josaphat: 

Last N/A Director of 

Approved Quality 
Assurance 

Effective Upon 
Approval Area General 
Administration 

Last Revised N/A 
Document Agency Plan 

Next Review 1 year after Type approval 

The Harris Center System Quality, Safety and Experience 
Performance Improvement Plan FY 2025 

The Harris Center System Quality, Safety and Experience Performance Improvement Plan 

 

FY 2025

Introduction 

The Quality, Safety, and Experience Plan is established in accordance with The Harris Center's mission to 
transform the lives of people with behavioral health and IDD needs. The center's vision is to empower people with 
behavioral health and IDD needs to improve their lives through an accessible, integrated, and comprehensive 
recovery-oriented system of care. Our values as a center include collaboration, compassion, excellence, integrity, 
leadership, quality, responsiveness, and safety. The Quality, Safety and Experience Plan has been established to 
embrace the principles of transparency of measures and outcomes, accurate measurement and data reporting, and 
personal and collective accountability for excellent outcomes. 

 

Vision 

Our vision is to create a learning health system focused on a culture of continuous quality improvement and safety 
at The Harris Center to help people live their healthiest lives possible, and to become a national leader in quality 
and safety in the behavioral healthcare space as it influences dissemination of evidence-based practices. 

 

Mission 

Page 159 of 179

https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=7241185
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=7241185
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=7241185
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?author=7241185
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=81302
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?category=81302
https://theharriscenter.policystat.com/v2/search?reference=114203


The Harris Center System Quality, Safety and Experience Performance Improvement Plan FY 2024. Retrieved 07/2024. Page 2 of 8
Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/14358146/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health 
and IDD

We aim to improve quality, efficiency, and access to care and associated behavioral health and IDD services by 
delivering education, providing technical support, generating, and disseminating evidence, and conducting 
evaluation of outcomes in support of operational and service excellence and process management across The 
Harris Center and with external partners. 

 

FY 2025 Goals 

1. Continue to build upon a learning health system focused on continuous quality improvement, patient safety, 
improving processes and outcomes. Partner with Organizational Development to enhance educational offerings 
focused on quality and safety education with all new employee orientation (High Reliability, Just Culture, 
Advanced Quality Improvement methodology, etc.). Hardwire a process for continuous readiness activities that 
complies with all legislative regulations and accrediting agencies standards (e.g., CARF, CCBHC). 

2. Use transparent, simplified meaningful measures to champion the delivery of high-quality evidence-based care 
and service to our patients and their families and assure that it is safe, effective, timely, efficient, equitable, and 
patient centered care. Refine and enhance data management governance strategy to support a transparent 
environment to provide accessible, accurate, and credible data about the quality and equity of care delivered. 

3. Develop, integrate, and align quality initiatives and cross-functional approaches throughout 

The Harris Center organization, including all entities. Enhance current committee structure to cover broad quality 
and safety work through the System Quality, Safety and Experience Committee. Develop a decentralized Quality 
Forum that reaches frontline performance improvement (PI) and Health Analytics/Data staff to provide education 
and tools to lead PI initiatives at their local sites. Develop and strengthen internal learning collaborative process to 
align with the Harris Center strategic plan for care pathways. IDD Care Pathway. 

To ensure alignment with survey readiness as a Certified Community Behavioral Health Clinic and Commission on 
Accreditation of Rehabilitation Facilities, the System Quality, Safety and Experience plan focuses on indicators 
related to improved behavioral and physical health outcomes and takes actions to demonstrate improved patterns of 
care delivery, such as reductions in emergency department use, rehospitalization, and repeated crisis episodes. The 
Plan incorporates processes to review known significant events including, at a minimum: 

• Deaths by suicide or suicide attempts of people receiving services 

• Fatal and non-fatal overdoses 

• All-cause mortality among people receiving CCBHC services

• 30-day hospital readmissions for psychiatric or substance use reasons

3-Year Long Term Goals (FY 2027) 

• Reduction in safety events

• Staff and provider engagement 

• Improve Patient satisfaction – Response rate and overall top box score  

• Increased access (numbers served) 

• Improved outcomes 

• Equitable care delivery 

• Exemplar in Quality and Safety for Behavioral Health with national recognition Governance Structure 

To ensure these goals are met, the System Quality, Safety and Experience Committee will:

Page 160 of 179



The Harris Center System Quality, Safety and Experience Performance Improvement Plan FY 2024. Retrieved 07/2024. Page 3 of 8
Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/14358146/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health 
and IDD

• Establish a Rigorous Review Process: Implement a systematic review of CQI outcomes to identify areas 
for improvement and make necessary adjustments to staffing, services, and availability.

• Focus on Key Performance Indicators: Prioritize indicators related to behavioral and physical health 
outcomes, emergency department use, rehospitalization rates, and crisis episode frequency.

• Involve Medical Leadership: Engage the Medical Director in overseeing the quality of medical care, 
ensuring effective coordination and integration with primary care services.

• Address Significant Events: Develop protocols to review and respond to critical incidents, including 
suicides, overdoses, all-cause mortality, and 30-day hospital readmissions.

• Utilize Data-Driven Strategies: Leverage both quantitative and qualitative data to inform CQI activities, 
with a particular focus on addressing health disparities among minority populations.

• Implement Continuous Monitoring and Reporting: Establish mechanisms for ongoing monitoring, 
evaluation, and reporting of CQI activities and outcomes to relevant stakeholders and accreditation 
bodies.

• Adapt and Improve: Use feedback and data analysis to continuously refine and enhance the CQI plan, 
ensuring it remains responsive to emerging issues and effective in improving overall performance.

Governing Body 

The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD Board of Trustees is responsible for ensuring a planned, system-wide 
approach to designing quality goals and measures; collecting, aggregating, analyzing data; and improving quality 
and safety. The Board of Trustees shall have the final authority and responsibility to allocate adequate resources 
for assessing and improving the organization's clinical performance. The Board shall receive, consider, and act 
upon recommendations emanating from the quality improvement activities described in this Plan. The Board has 
established a standing committee, Quality Committee of the Board of Trustees, to assess and promote patient 
safety and quality healthcare. The Committee provides oversight of all areas of clinical risk and clinical 
improvement to patients, employees, and medical staff. 

Leadership 

The Harris Center leadership is delegated the authority, via the Board of Trustees, and accountability for executing 
and managing the organization's quality improvement initiatives. Quality leadership provides the framework for 
planning, directing, coordinating, and delivering the improvement of healthcare services that are responsive to both 
community and patient needs that improve healthcare outcomes. The Harris Center leaders encourage involvement 
and participation from staff at all levels within all entities in quality initiatives and provide the stimulus, vision, and 
resources necessary to execute quality initiatives. 

The Executive Session of the Quality Committee of the Board is the forum for presenting closed record case 
reviews, urgent case reviews, pharmacy dashboard report including medication errors, and the Professional Review 
Committee report. 

Professional Review Committee (PRC) 

The Chief Medical Officer (CMO) is delegated the oversight, via the Board of Trustees, to evaluate the quality of 
medical care and is accountable to the Board of Trustees for the ongoing evaluation and improvement of the 
quality of patient care at The Harris Center and of the professional practice of licensed providers. The PRC will act 
as the authorizing committee for professional peer review and system quality committees (Exhibit A). The 
committee will also ensure that licensing boards of professional health care staff are properly notified of any 

Page 161 of 179



The Harris Center System Quality, Safety and Experience Performance Improvement Plan FY 2024. Retrieved 07/2024. Page 4 of 8
Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/14358146/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health 
and IDD

reportable conduct or finding when indicated. The Professional Review Committee has oversight of the following 
peer protected processes and committees: 

• Medical Peer Review 

• Pharmacy Peer Review 

• Nursing Peer Review 

• Licensed Professional Review 

• Closed Record Review 

• Internal Review Board 

• System Quality, Safety and Experience Committee Membership: 

◦ Chief Executive Officer (Ex-Officio) 

◦ Chief Medical Officer 

◦ Chief Operating Officer 

◦ Chief Nursing Officer (Co-chair)

◦ Chief Administrative Officer 

◦ Legal Counsel 

◦ Divisional VPs and (CPEP, MH) 

◦ VP, Clinical Transformation and Quality (Chair)

◦ Director Risk Management/ERM 

◦ Director of Pharmacy Programs 

System Quality, Safety and Experience Committee 

The Quality Committee of the Board of Trustees has established a standing committee, The System Quality, Safety 
and Experience Committee to evaluate, prioritize, provide general oversight and alignment, and remove any 
significant barriers for implementation for quality, safety, and experience initiatives across Harris Center programs. 
The Committee is composed of Harris Center leadership, including operational and medical staff. The Committee 
will approve annual system-wide quality and safety goals and review progress. The patient safety dashboard and all 
serious patient safety events are reviewed. Root Cause 
Analysis, Apparent Cause Analysis, Failure Modes and Effects Analysis, quality education projects, are formal 
processes used by the Committee to evaluate the quality and safety of mental projects through The Harris Center's 
quality training program or other performance improvement training programs are privileged and confidential as 
part of the Quality, Safety & Experience Committee efforts. The Committee also seeks to ensure that all The Harris 
Center entities achieve standards set forth by the Commission on Accreditation and Rehabilitation Facilities 
(CARF) and Certified Community Behavioral Health Clinic (CCBHC). 

The System Quality, Safety and Experience Committee has oversight of the following committees, subcommittees 
and/or processes: 

• Pharmacy and Therapeutics Committee 

• Infection Prevention 

• System Accreditation 

• All PI Councils and internal learning collaboratives (e.g., Zero Suicide, Substance Use Disorders) 

• Approval of Care Pathways 

Page 162 of 179



The Harris Center System Quality, Safety and Experience Performance Improvement Plan FY 2024. Retrieved 07/2024. Page 5 of 8
Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/14358146/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health 
and IDD

• Patient Experience / Satisfaction Subcommittee  

The criteria listed below provide a framework for the identification of improvements that affect health outcomes, 
patient safety, and quality of care, which move the organization to our mission of providing the finest possible 
patient care. The criteria drive strategic planning and the establishment of short and long-term goals for quality 
initiatives and are utilized to prioritize quality improvement and safety initiatives. 

• High-risk, high-volume, or problem-prone practices, processes, or procedures 

• Identified risk to patient safety and medical/healthcare errors 

• Identified in The Harris Center Strategic Plan 

• Identified as Evidenced Based or "Best Practice" 

• Required by regulatory agency or contract requirements Methodologies 

• The Model for Improvement and other quality frameworks (e.g., Lean, Six Sigma) are used to guide 
quality improvement efforts and projects 

• A Root Cause Analysis (RCA) is conducted in response to serious or sentinel events 

• Failure Mode and Effects Analysis (FMEA) is a proactive tool performed for analysis of a high risk 
process/procedure performed on an as needed basis (at least annually) 

• Data Management Approach and Analysis 

Data is used to guide quality improvement initiatives throughout the organization to improve, safety, treatment, and 
services for our patients. The initial phase of a project focuses on obtaining baseline data to develop the aim and 
scope of the project. Evidence-based measures are developed as a part of the quality improvement initiative when 
the evidence exists. Data is collected as frequently as necessary for various reasons, such as monitoring the 
process, tracking balancing measures, observing interventions, and evaluating the project. Data sources vary 
according to the aim of the quality improvement project, examples include the medical record, patient satisfaction 
surveys, patient safety data, financial data. 

Benchmarking data supports the internal review and analysis to identify variation and improve performance. 
Reports are generated and reviewed with the quality improvement team. Ongoing review of organization wide 
performance measures are reported to committees described in the Quality, Safety and Experience governance 
structure. 

Reporting 

Quality, Safety and Experience metrics are routinely reported to the Quality, Safety and Experience Committee. 
Quality, Safety and Experience Committee is notified if an issue is identified. Roll up reporting to the Quality 
Board of Trustees on a quarterly basis and more frequently as indicated. 

Evaluation and Review 

At least annually, the Quality, Safety and Experience leadership shall evaluate the overall effectiveness of the 

Quality, Safety and Experience Plan and program. Components of the plan met, and this document is maintained to 

reflect an accurate description of the Quality, Safety and Experience program. The Model for Improvement 

Forming the Team: 

Including the right people on a process improvement team is critical to a successful improvement effort. Teams 
vary in size and composition. Each organization builds teams to suit its own needs. 

Setting Aims: 

Page 163 of 179



The Harris Center System Quality, Safety and Experience Performance Improvement Plan FY 2024. Retrieved 07/2024. Page 6 of 8
Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/14358146/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health 
and IDD

Improvement requires setting aims. The aim should be time-specific and measurable; it should also define the 
specific population of patients that will be affected. 

Establishing Measures: 

Teams use quantitative measures to determine if a specific change actually leads to an improvement. 

Selecting Changes 

All improvement requires making changes, but not all changes result in improvement. Organizations therefore 
must identify the changes that are most likely to result in improvement. 

Testing Changes 

The Plan-do-Study-Act (PDSA) cycle is shorthand for testing a change in the real work setting – by planning it, 
trying it, observing the results, and acting on what is learned. This is the scientific method used for action oriented 
learning. 
 

Implementing Changes: 

After testing a change on a small scale, learning from each test, and refining the change through several PDSA 
cycles, the team can implement the change on a broader scale — for example, for an entire pilot population or on 
an entire unit. 

Spreading Changes: 

After successful implementation of a change or package of changes for a pilot population or an entire unit, the team 
can spread the changes to other parts of the organization or in other organizations. 

Sources: 

Langley GL, Nolan KM, Nolan TW, Norman CL, Provost LP. The Improvement Guide: A Practical Approach to 
Enhancing Organizational Performance. 

The Plan-Do-Study-Act (PDSA) cycle was originally developed by Walter A. Shewhart as the Plan-Do-Check-Act 
(PDCA) cycle. W. Edwards Deming modified Shewhart's cycle to PDSA, replacing "Check" with "Study." [See 
Deming WE. The New Economics for Industry, Government, and Education. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press; 
2000.] 

Root Cause Analysis (RCA): 

The key to solving a problem is to first truly understand it. Often, our focus shifts too quickly from the problem to 
the solution, and we try to solve a problem before comprehending its root cause. What we think is the cause, 
however, is sometimes just another symptom. One way to identify the root cause of a problem is to ask "Why?" 
five times. When a problem presents itself, ask "Why did this happen?" Then, don't stop at the answer to this first 
question. Ask "Why?" again and again until you reach the root cause. 

Failure Modes and Effects Analysis (FMEA): 

FMEA is a tool for conducting a systematic, proactive analysis of a process in which harm may occur. In an 
FMEA, a team representing all areas of the process under review convenes to predict and record where, how, and 
to what extent the system might fail. Then, team members with appropriate expertise work together to devise 
improvements to prevent those failures — especially failures that are likely to occur or would cause severe harm to 
patients or staff. The FMEA tool prompts teams to review, evaluate, and record the following: 

Page 164 of 179



The Harris Center System Quality, Safety and Experience Performance Improvement Plan FY 2024. Retrieved 07/2024. Page 7 of 8
Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/14358146/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health 
and IDD

Steps in the process 

Failure modes (What could go wrong?) 

Failure causes (Why would the failure happen?) 

Failure effects (What would be the consequences of each failure?) 

Teams use FMEA to evaluate processes for possible failures and to prevent them by correcting the processes 
proactively rather than reacting to adverse events after failures have occurred. This emphasis on prevention may 
reduce risk of harm to both patients and staff. FMEA is particularly useful in evaluating a new process prior to 
implementation and in assessing the impact of a proposed change to an existing process. 

Page 165 of 179



The Harris Center System Quality, Safety and Experience Performance Improvement Plan FY 2024. Retrieved 07/2024. Page 8 of 8
Official copy at http://theharriscenter.policystat.com/policy/14358146/. Copyright © 2024 The Harris Center for Mental Health 
and IDD

Page 166 of 179



EXHIBIT F-25



HR Update

Joe Gorczyca

Ninfa Escobar

September 2024

Page 167 of 179



FY24 Strategic Goals

Recruiting

Turnover

Benefits

Compensation Strategy

FY25 – FY27 People Goals

Agenda

2

Page 168 of 179



FY24 Strategic Goals

Description Goal Result

Increase percentage of employees participating in THC sponsored
Professional development education

60% 60.2%

Decrease average ‘days open’ for vacant positions (time to fill) 45 days 45 days

Achieve overall employee engagement scores compared to industry 70th percentile 72nd percentile

Page 169 of 179



260

227

0

75

150

225

300

Employee Referrals

FY 23 Total FY 24 Total

Employee Referrals & Internal Hiring Insights

24.51% 24.28%

Employee Referrals | Year over Year

720

616

341
319

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

FY 23 Applicant Type FY 24 Applicant Type

External Internal

Internal Hiring | Year over Year

Employee Referral Insights: 
• In FY2023, The Harris Center paid out a total of $54,700 in 

Employee Referral Bonuses to 112 employees, with an average 
payout of $488 

• Although employee referrals slightly decreased from 24.51% in 
FY2023 to 24.28% in FY2024, the discontinuation of the 
Employee Referral Bonus program had minimal impact on this 
referral source. 

34.12%

Internal Hiring Insights: 
• The percentage of internal hires is relatively consistent 

across FY23 and FY24 moving up slightly from 32.14% in 
FY23 to 34.12% in FY24. 

32.14%

Page 170 of 179



HBCUs / HACUs: Black / Hispanic Hiring

School Name HACU/ HBCU/ HSI 

Prairie View A&M University HBCU 

Texas Southern University HBCU 

Baylor College of Medicine HACU 

Baylor University HACU 

Lamar University HACU 

Texas A&M University-Commerce HACU 

Angelo State University HSI 

College of the Mainland HSI 

Houston Baptist University HSI 

Houston Community College HSI 

Lee College HSI 

Our Lady of the Lake University, San Antonio HSI 

San Jacinto Community College HSI 

Texas A&M University, Corpus Christi HSI 

Texas A&M University, Kingsville HSI 

Texas State University HSI 

The University of Texas at Arlington HSI 

The University of Texas at El Paso HSI 

University of Houston HSI 

University of Houston, Clear Lake HSI 

University of Houston, Downtown HSI 

University of Houston, Victoria HSI 

University of St. Thomas HSI 

University of the Incarnate Word HSI 

 

Major HBCUs
Prairie View A&M University
Texas Southern University

Additional HBCUs – in progress:
Huston-Tillotson (Austin)
Jarvis Christian University (Hawkins)
Wiley University (Marshall)
Southwestern Christian College (Terrell)
Texas College (Tyler)
Paul Quinn College (Dallas)
St. Phillips College (San Antonio)

The Harris Center: Employee Representation
Black / African American: 53% (Harris County: 19%)

Hispanic / Latino:  22% (Harris County: 43%)

Page 171 of 179



Turnover Data Overview

Turnover Details FY2022 FY2023 FY2024 

Active Employees 2386 2500 2497

Total Terminations
   Voluntary
   Involuntary

551
79%
21%

499
77%
23%

541
75%
25%

Turnover Rate Y-o-Y 23.09% 20.08% 21.70%

FY2024 Total Harris Center NPC / Crisis Line Nurses National 
Behavioral Health

Turnover Rate 21.70% 27.25% 28.15% 29.3%

23.1%
20.1%

21.7%

Page 172 of 179



Turnover Reasons / Exit Data

Voluntary Terminations (75%) Involuntary Terminations (25%)

Career Opportunity

Manager Support

Personal / Medical

Policy Violations / Misconduct

Job Abandonment

Performance

Page 173 of 179



Compensation Strategy

Category 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

Merit Increase  $1.7M  $1.8M  $2.5M 

Market Increases $5.8M  $4.8M $13.3M $0.9M $0.3M 

Performance Award  
(one-time) 

$2.7M $1.1M $3.0M  $3.2M $0.6M 

Total $8.5M $2.8M $7.8M $15.1M $4.1M $3.4M 

Average % Increase per 
Employee 

7.7% 2.0% 4.9% 9.1% 2.5% 2.3% 

       

Minimum Hourly Rate $12.30 $12.30 $12.30 $12.30 $15.00 $17.50 

 

2025

$5.1M

3.0%

21.9% 16.7%Percent Increase

$533K
Increase 
PTO Sell

Average % Increase / Employee
Over Past 3 years: 4.6%
Over Past 6 years: 4.7%

Page 174 of 179



Total Rewards for Our Employees

Item Annual Amount

Compensation
• Base Salary
• Merit Increase (e.g. 2.0%)
• Performance Award (e.g. 1.0%)
Total Compensation

$55,000
1,100

550
$56,650

Benefits
• Medical Premium (80% covered by agency)
• Insurance – Core Life, Core AD&D, LT Disability (100% by agency)
• Employee Assistance Program (100% by agency)
• Retirement – Employer Contribution (5%)
• Retirement – Employer Matching (up to 5%)
• PTO (e.g. 5.6 weeks min)
Total Potential Benefits

$6,250
600
750

2,750
2,750
5,920

$19,020

TOTAL REWARDS $75,670

Example Employee
$55,000 base
7 years tenure

Additional value of Medical premium discount (Employee + Family): $12,400

Page 175 of 179



FY25 – FY27 People Goals

People 
Goals

Employee Engagement

Employee Voice Employee Recognition

Employee Health & Wellness

Page 176 of 179



People Goals 

Employee Engagement
Enhance Employee Engagement

Employee Voice
Amplify employee voice

Employee Surveys

Leadership Development 

Institute

Inclusion Hub

Leadership Meetings

CEO Videos

Townhall Meetings

Leader Site Visits

Question & Suggestion Box

Engagement Walks

Page 177 of 179



People Goals 

Employee Recognition

Improve recognition programs
Employee Health & Wellness

Promote health and wellbeing

Onthemark Healthy Worksite 

Assessment

Monthly Health Webinars

Wellness Partner Education

Wellness Fair 

Onsite Health Services

Employee 

Recognition Event

Employee Picnic 

(coming soon)

Board Recognition 

of Employees

Employee Awards

(Snappy)

Special 

Appreciation Days

Pingboard 

Applause

Mission Moments

Page 178 of 179



Thank You!

Page 179 of 179


	Agenda
	I. DECLARATION OF QUORUM
	II. PUBLIC COMMENTS
	III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	A. Approve Minutes of the Board of Trustees Meeting Held on Thursday, August 27, 2024

	IV. BOARD CHAIR’S REPORT
	V. CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S REPORT
	VI. COMMITTEE REPORTS AND ACTIONS
	A. Governance Committee Reports and/or Action
	B. Resource Committee Report and/or Action
	C. Program Committee Report and/or Action
	D. Quality Committee Report and/or Action
	E. Foundation Report and/or Action

	VII. CONSENT AGENDA
	A. FY'24 Year-to-Date Budget Report-August
	B. FQHC Co-Application
	C. Harris Center Integrated Care Bylaws
	D. Harris Center Integrated Care Articles of Incorporation
	E. HCIC Annual Operating Budget
	F. September 2024 Contracts Amendments Over 250K
	G. September 2024 Interlocal Agreement
	H. Authorization to create FY25 PO to pay Employee Parking at Texas Medical Center
	I. IDD Medication Storage, Maintenance and Disposal
	J. Pharmacy Staff Training Policy
	K. Prescription Monitoring Program (PMP) Policy
	L. Behavioral Crisis Safety and Intervention
	M. Code of Ethics Policy
	N. Declaration of Mental Health Treatment
	O. Employee Referral Bonus Program
	P. Harris Center Advisory Committee
	Q. Pharmaceutical or Patient Assistance Programs (PAP)
	R. Shift Differential
	S. Purchasing Card
	T. Medication Storage, Preparation, and Administration Areas Policy
	U. Transfers-Promotions-Demotions

	VIII. REVIEW AND TAKE ACTION
	A. FY24 Strategic Plan Update
	B. FQHC Application-Board Resolution
	C. PI Plan  FY2025

	IX. REVIEW AND COMMENT
	A. Human Resources Update
	B. RDLR NE Community Clinic

	X. EXECUTIVE SESSION
	•	As authorized by §551.071 of the Texas Government Code, the Board of Trustees reserves the right to adjourn into Executive Session at anytime during the course of this meeting to seek legal advice from its attorney about any matters listed on the agenda.

•	As authorized by § 551.074 of the Texas Government Code,   performance evaluation of CEO. Mr. James Lykes, Chair of Governance Committee & Dr. R. Gearing, Chair of the Harris Center Board of Trustees


	XI. RECONVENE INTO OPEN SESSION                                                       
	XII. CONSIDER AND TAKE ACTION AS A RESULT OF THE EXECUTIVE SESSION
	XIII. ADJOURN
	



______________________________________
Veronica Franco, Board Liaison
Robin Gearing, Ph.D., Chair, Board of Trustees
The Harris Center for Mental Health and IDD




